
 

 Regular Council Meeting Agenda for Monday, May 27, 2024                                                               1 

 

THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF ASHCROFT 

REGULAR AGENDA 

FOR THE MEETING OF COUNCIL TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF THE VILLAGE 

OFFICE AT 6:00 PM ON MONDAY, MAY 27, 2024 

Please be advised that the HUB Online Network will record and broadcast or live stream today’s Council 

meeting.  

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

“Mayor and Council wish to acknowledge that the meeting today is held within the traditional territory 

of the Nlaka’pamux people.” 

 

1. ADDITIONS TO OR DELETIONS FROM THE AGENDA 

 

 

2. MINUTES 

2.1 Minutes of the Town Hall Meeting held Monday, May 13, 2024 
THAT, the Minutes of the Town Hall Meeting of Council held Monday, 
May 13, 2024 be adopted as presented. 

P. 1-3 

2.2 Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held Monday, May 13, 2024 
THAT, the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held Monday, 
May 13, 2024 be adopted as presented. 

P. 4-9 

 

3. DELEGATIONS 

 

3.1   

 

4. PUBLIC INPUT 

All questions and comments will be addressed through the Chair and answered likewise. Please state 

your name and address prior to asking a question or commenting, no more than 2 minutes per question. 

 

5. BYLAWS/POLICIES 

 

5.1 Hours of Work Policy A-05-2021 
M/S 
THAT, Policy A-05-2021 – Hours of Work Policy be repealed as per 
Policy Review Committee recommendation. 

P. 10 

5.2 Office Closure Policy – A-05-2024 
M/S 
THAT, the Office Closure Policy A-05-2024 be adopted as presented 
as per the Policy Review Committee recommendation. 

P. 11 

5.3 Indigenous Collection and Repatriation Policy A-06-2024 
M/S 
THAT, the Indigenous Collection and Repatriation Policy A-06-
2024be adopted as presented as per the Policy Review Committee 
recommendation. 

P. 12-14 



 

 Regular Council Meeting Agenda for Monday, May 27, 2024                                                               2 

 

5.4 CAO Report – Council Committee and Board Appointment Policy 
Revision 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s approval for the revised 
Council Committee and Board Appointment Policy, which incorporates 
and aligns Working Groups with the Strategic Plan. Additionally, the 
report requests that Council dissolve the Inter-Community Bylaw 
Enforcement Working Group, as it has fulfilled its purpose. 
M/S 
THAT, Council approves the revised Council Committee, Board 
Appointment Policy, which incorporates Working Groups in the policy 
and aligns them with the Strategic Plan; and further that Council 
dissolves the Inter-Community Bylaw Enforcement Working Group, 
as it has fulfilled its purpose. 

P. 15-20 

 

6. STAFF REPORTS 

 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

6.1 CAO Report – UBCM Minister Meeting Requests 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to seek direction from Council as to which 
Ministers or Ministry Staff, Agencies, Commissions or Corporations 
Council would like to meet with at UBCM in September. 
M/S 
THAT, Council direct staff to schedule meetings with Minister 
Flemming, Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure, Ministry, 
Agency, Commission, and Corporation (MACC) staff from BC Transit, 
………. 

P. 21-25 

6.2 CAO Report – BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement and 
Transit Update 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to request Council approval to sign the 
2024/2025 Annual Operating Agreement for the ongoing Para Transit 
System between the Village of Ashcroft and BC Transit, and provide 
an update to transit services as proposed by BC Transit effective 
August 1, 2025. 
M/S 
THAT, Council approves Staff to sign the BC Transit Annual 
Operating Agreement for 2024/2025 and continue to provide the Para 
Transit Service between Ashcroft, Cache Creek and Clinton. 

P. 26-38 

FOR INFORMATION 

   

 

7. CORRESPONDENCE 

 

 FOR ACTION 

7.1 Ashcroft & District Lions Club – Annual Skip’s Memorial Charity 
Run Sunday, June 2, 2024 – Requesting Council’s Approval of the 
route  
M/S 

P. 39-40 

7.2 Regional District of Nanaimo – Legislative Reform Initiative – 
Request for Letter of Support endorsing this work 

P. 41-51 



 

 Regular Council Meeting Agenda for Monday, May 27, 2024                                                               3 

 

M/S 

FOR INFORMATION 

7.3 School District #74 – May 2024 Board Bulletin P. 52-53 

7.4 UBCM – In Receipt of the Village of Ashcroft Resolution from 
SILGA Convention – Adjustment of Funding Formula for Small 
Rural Transit Services 

P. 54-55 

7.5 Highland Solar Project Engagement – June 12th, 2024 Ashcroft 
Community Hall 

P. 56 

7.6 BC Interior Community Fund – Fundholder Statement for January 
1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 – Ash-Cache Creek Community 
Smart and Caring Fund 

P. 57-59 

 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

8.1 Task Manager – Motion Tracker P. 60 

 

9. NEW BUSINESS 

 

9.1   

 

10. REPORTS/RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES, COTW, and COMMISSIONS 

 

10.1 Policy Review Committee – Meeting Notes – April 25, 2024 P. 61-62 

10.2 Para-Transit Committee – Minutes – May 15, 2024 P. 63-67 

10.3 Policy Review Committee – Meeting Notes – May 23, 2024 
THAT, Council approves the Terms of Reference for the Policy 
Review Committee as presented. 
M/S 

P. 68-70 

 

 

11. COUNCIL REPORTS 

 

11.1 Mayor Roden   

11.2 Councillor Anstett  

11.3 Councillor Clement  

11.4 Councillor Davenport  

11.5 Councillor Lambert  

 

12. RESOLUTION TO ADJOURN TO CLOSED MEETING 

 Motion to move to a closed meeting to discuss an item under the Community Charter Section 90.1 

12.1   

 

13. RESOLUTIONS RELEASED FROM CLOSED MEETING 

 

13.1   

 

14. ADJOURNMENT 



THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF ASHCROFT 

TOWN HALL 

MINUTES 

FOR THE MEETING HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF THE VILLAGE OFFICE 

 AT 5:00 PM ON MONDAY, MAY 13, 2024 

PRESENT: Mayor, Barbara Roden 

Councillor, Jessica Clement 

Councillor, Nadine Davenport 

Councillor, Doreen Lambert 

CAO, Daniela Dyck 

CFO, Yogi Bhalla 

DPW, Brian Bennewith 

EXCUSED: Councillor, Jonah Anstett 

Media – 1 

Public –  

1. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Roden called the Town Hall Meeting to order for Monday, May 13, 2024, at 5:00 pm.

“Mayor and Council wish to acknowledge that the meeting today is held within the traditional territory

of the Nlaka’pamux people.”

2. WELCOME TO THE TOWN HALL MEETING

Mayor Roden welcomed residents attending online as there was no one in the gallery advising this is

the legislated meeting required for municipalities to present the financial plan.

3. 2023 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 2024-2028 FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PLAN

CFO, Yogi Bhalla gave a PowerPoint presentation reiterating that this is a legislated meeting, and he

will be presenting the Five-Year Financial Plan, 2024 Tax Rates and review the 2023 Audited Financial

Statements. CFO Bhalla commented that this is the Village’s second public meeting presenting the

aforementioned items.

CFO Bhalla noted, the Community Charter require local governments to present a balanced budget

each year.

Local governments practice “Fund Accounting.” The Village has separate accounts of general

operations, water operations, sewer operations and reserves:

• the general fund includes public works, streets and roads, protective services, solid waste,

administration, and recreation;

1



 

 
   
 
Town Hall Minutes – Monday, May 13, 2024  2 

 

 

• the water fund includes delivery, pipes, treatment plant, pump houses, infrastructure, and 

reservoirs; 

• the sewer fund includes collection, pipes, treatment, lift stations, infrastructure and treatment 

plant. 

 

Restricted Assets and Reserves: 

• Capital Works Reserve Fund 

• Sewer Fund 

• Water Fund 

• Machinery and Equipment Reserve Fund 

• Perpetual Care Reserve Fund 

• Fire Department Reserve Fund 

• Transit Reserve Fund 

• Growing Communities  

 

Asset breakdown: 

• Unrestricted assets - $694,368 (12%) 

• Restricted assets - $4,866,273 (88%) 

 

CFO Bhalla provided a pie chart indicating the value of each restricted asset fund account. 

CFO Bhalla moved the presentation to discuss the 2023 financials, noting overall it was a good year, able 

to cover inflationary increases without a substantial tax increase. 

 

• Financial assets saw an increase of $1,172,042 in 2023. 

• Liabilities also saw an increase of $371,230 in 2023. 

• CFO Bhalla discussed equity and reserves. 

• Tangible capital assets also increased in 2023 by $1,693,908. 

• Discussion of 2023 revenues and expenses noting revenue sources as municipal taxation 

($1,889,377), sales of services ($1,332,361), government grants ($2,910,147), permits and 

penalties ($479,140). 

• Expenses were broken down by category as follows: general ($632,250), protective services 

($181,017), transportation ($752,426), environmental and public health ($268,282), recreation 

($936,163), water and sewer ($1,365,351). 

 

Five Year Financial Plan 

• Total revenues and expenses were discussed. 

• CFO Bhalla noted this year taxes are going up 3.5% which equates to an average single family 

tax increase of $33.29. 

• Reminder that we only control 50% of the property tax assessment; we cannot control the other 

level of governments’ taxation increases. 

• CFO Bhalla commented that in comparison to other communities, we are keeping our costs 

very low. Our challenge is to manage and balance the budget when we are facing 8-10% cost 

increases. 

 

  

2



Town Hall Minutes – Monday, May 13, 2024 3 

4. COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

Q - When will property tax notices be sent out?

A - As soon as Council approves the tax rates, then we can move forward with printing the tax notices.

Taxes due July 15, 2024. 

Q - Does the office remain open during the lunch hour to accommodate payment?  

A - Yes, during the last week before the payment deadline. Additionally, we have the drop box at the 

front door to accommodate those unable to attend the office during office hours. CFO Bhalla also 

noted that most property taxes are received through online banking methods. 

5. ADJOURNMENT

Mayor Roden adjourned the Town Hall Meeting for Monday May 13, 2027, at 5:19 pm.

Certified to be a true and correct copy of 

the Town Hall Meeting held Monday,  

May 13, 2024.  

______________________ __________________________ 

Daniela Dyck,  Barbara Roden,  

Chief Administrative Officer Mayor 

3



 Regular Council Meeting Minutes for Monday, May 13, 2024    1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE OF ASHCROFT 

REGULAR MINUTES 

FOR THE MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF THE VILLAGE OFFICE 

AT 6:00 PM ON MONDAY, MAY 13, 2024 

PRESENT: Mayor, Barbara Roden 

Councillor, Jessica Clement 

Councillor, Nadine Davenport 

Councillor, Doreen Lambert 

CAO, Daniela Dyck 

CFO, Yogi Bhalla 

DPW, Brian Bennewith 

EXCUSED: Councillor, Jonah Anstett 

Media – 1 

Public –  1 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Roden called the Regular Meeting of Council for Monday, May 13, 2024, to order at 6:00 pm. 

“Mayor and Council wish to acknowledge that the meeting today is held within the traditional territory 

of the Nlaka’pamux people.” 

Mayor Roden commented that May 12 – 18 is National Police Week and expressed her gratitude for 

the exemplary service provided by our detachment members in the Village of Ashcroft and surrounding 

area. 

1. ADDITIONS TO OR DELETIONS FROM THE AGENDA

M/S Roden / Davenport

THAT, the Agenda for the Regular Meeting of Council for Monday, May 13, 2024, be adopted as

amended to include the Economic Development and Tourism Working Group Branding Logo Report

for consideration under New Business.

CARRIED. Unanimous R-2024-84

2. MINUTES

2.1 Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held Monday, April 22, 
2024 
M/S Clement / Lambert 
THAT, the Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held Monday, 
April 22, 2024, be adopted as amended. – Correct adjournment time 
from 7:09pm to 5:35 pm. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-85

2.2 Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held Monday, April 22, 
2024 
M/S Davenport / Clement 
THAT, the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council held Monday, 
April 22, 2024, be adopted as presented. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-86

4



 Regular Council Meeting Minutes for Monday, May 13, 2024    2 

3. DELEGATIONS

3.1 N/A 

4. PUBLIC INPUT

All questions and comments will be addressed through the Chair and answered likewise. Please state

your name and address prior to asking a question or commenting, no more than 2 minutes per question.

No comments or questions were received from the public.

5. BYLAWS/POLICIES

5.1 Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw No. 867, 2024 
M/S Clement / Lambert 
THAT, the Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw No. 867, 2024 be adopted. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-87

5.2 Tax Rates Bylaw No. 868, 2024 
M/S Lambert / Davenport 
THAT, Tax Rates Bylaw No. 868, 2024 be adopted 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-88

5.3 Village of Ashcroft Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 869, 2024 
M/S Davenport / Lambert 
THAT, the Village of Ashcroft Fees and Charges Bylaw No. 869, 
2024 be adopted. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-89

6. STAFF REPORTS

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

6.1 CAO / EDTC Report – Assessment of Japanese Mural at Heritage 
Park 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to fulfill the request made during the 
Regular Council Meeting on April 22, 2024, that a comprehensive 
report assessing the current status of the Japanese Mural located at 
Heritage Park will be provided to Council. 

M/S Clement / Lambert 
THAT, in light of the significant damage to the Japanese Mural at 
Heritage Park, it is proposed that Council send a report to the Mayor 
and Council of Bifuka, expressing our concern, and extend an 
invitation to artists from Bifuka to consult with us on developing a plan 
to move forward. 

Comments: 
Mayor Roden wondered if there is a space indoors where the mural 
could be displayed to preserve it? 
The only building tall enough is likely the arena; however, with the 
temperature and humidity it would not be ideal. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-90

5



 Regular Council Meeting Minutes for Monday, May 13, 2024    3 

6.2 CFO Report – 2023 Statement of Financial Information Report 
(SOFI Report) 

Purpose: 
Review and approval of the Statement of Financial Information Report 

M/S Lambert / Davenport 
THAT, Council approve the 2023 Statement of Financial Information 
Report as presented. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-91

FOR INFORMATION 

6.3 CAO Verbal Report 
Purpose: 
The purpose of this report and future reports is to provide information 
to the Council that may not come up during Regular Meetings or 
Committee of the Whole.  Topics include operational updates, or other 
areas of interest to the village. 
CAO Dyck explained that she would be bringing verbal reports more 
often for items that do not require a written report but for transparency 
purposes a brief update should be provided to Council. 
Items discussed: 

• SILGA Conference highlights

• NG911 status update under the TNRD shared service model.

• Rainbow bench – ordered in lieu of repainting the sidewalk.

• Practicum Student – May 6 – 17, 2024 from University of the
Fraser Valley.

• Bursaries for Desert Sands Community School – applications
should be received soon, invitation to Council members to join
the selection committee.

• Pool staffing and operations update – 2 more guards would be
ideal, opening June 1 or 15 depending on staffing levels.

• Corporal (Bendfeld) Harris has been promoted to the Sergeant
position at the Ashcroft detachment. Congratulatory letter has
been sent.

7. CORRESPONDENCE

 FOR ACTION 

7.1 JP Pow Wow Society – Request for Sponsorship of the Bonaparte 
St’uxwtews Pow Wow 2024 
M/S Roden / Clement 
Receive for information.  

Direction to staff - forward a  copy of the Village’s grant in aid policy. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-92

7.2 Proclamation – Hope Air Day 2024 
Post Proclamation  

M/S Roden / Lambert 
THAT, the Village of Ashcroft proclaims that June 17th, 2024, shall be 
known as "Hope Air Day" in recognition of the invaluable contributions 
made by Hope Air to the health and well-being of individuals in British 
Columbia's remote, rural and underserved communities. 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-93

6



 Regular Council Meeting Minutes for Monday, May 13, 2024    4 

7.3 WRAPS – Request for Donation of Door Prize Items for Ashcroft 
Plein Air June 7-9, 2024 
Cnclr. Clement recused herself at 6:21 siting a conflict of interested 
returning at 6:24. 

M/S Lambert / Davenport 
THAT, the Village donate a gift basket valued up to $75.00 for the Plein 
Air event consisting of a Village charcuterie board, wine glasses and a 
bottle of wine.  

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-94

FOR INFORMATION 

7.4 Alex Pawliuk – Wildfire Prevention and Suppression – 
Suggestions for Managing the Outcomes of Wildfires 

7.5 TNRD – TNRD to Issue Test Emergency Notice to Voyent Alert! 
Users on May 10 

7.6 TRU – Examining Rural Older Adults’ Perceptions of Falls 
Prevention Study 

7.7 TRU – Rural Aging and Independence to Support Dementia 
(RAISD) Study  

7.8 Bonaparte Watershed Stewardship Society – Restoration, 
Reconciliation, and Resources 

7.9 Emergency Management and Climate Readiness (EMCR) – Snow 
Survey and Water Supply Bulletin 

7.10 EMCR – Four Pillars Emergency Management Resources for 
Communities – New Emergency Ready Planner 

7.11 Government of BC – Stay Informed During Emergencies 

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

8.1 Task Manager – Motion Tracker 
For Information 

9. NEW BUSINESS

9.1 EDTC Working Group Report – May 13, 2024 – Late Item 
Purpose: 
To seek Councils approval of the revised consultation timeline to 
maximize opportunities for community engagement and meet the 
deadlines set out by Council at the April 22, 2024 meeting. 

M/S Clement / Davenport 
THAT, the Village of Ashcroft Council support the revised consultation 
timeline as presented by the Economic Development and Tourism 
working group. 

Discussion: 
Suggestion to change the evening meeting time to 7:00 pm. 
Councillor Clement clarified the branding process as well as timelines 
and community consultation initiatives. 
Cost clarifications also discussion 

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-95

10. REPORTS/RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES, COTW, and COMMISSIONS

10.1 

7



 Regular Council Meeting Minutes for Monday, May 13, 2024    5 

11. COUNCIL REPORTS

11.1 Mayor Roden – Verbal Report – SILGA Convention 
Highlights: 

• Opening ceremonies at Tk’emlups and residential school tour

• Rocky Mountaineer – invited into a car to experience the
atmosphere.

• FireSmart – state of BC’s Forests and the concerns raised for
the upcoming season.

• Advocacy – noted council members should follow up with the
ministers throughout the UBCM convention to make a
personal connection.

• Conflict of Interest presentation – Fulton and Co.

• Better than Tinder – Terry Lake and Ken Christian session

11.2 Councillor Anstett – Verbal Report – SILGA Convention 

11.3 Councillor Clement – Verbal Report – SILGA Convention 

• Attended the language class at the arbour

• Enjoyed the great discussion during resolution sessions

• Local Ec Dev – disappointed not a lot of information to bring
back, session was all about Adventure Kamloops which was
great but not really implementable for us

Community Resource meeting today – 

• Update from Mental Health clinician, focus has shifted doing
higher level issues only, social workers cover the less
emergent issues

• Brought to light the staff positions not filled but website is
advertising the service as available.

M/S Clement / Roden 
THAT, the Village of Ashcroft send a letter to IHA asking them to 
update the Ashcroft Urgent Primary Care website to reflect actual 
services provided and post positions that are available.  

CARRIED 
Unanimous 
R-2024-96

11.4 Councillor Davenport 

11.5 Councillor Lambert - Report 

12. RESOLUTION TO ADJOURN TO CLOSED MEETING

Motion to move to a closed meeting to discuss an item under the Community Charter Section 90.1

12.1 

13. RESOLUTIONS RELEASED FROM CLOSED MEETING

13.1 

14. ADJOURNMENT

Mayor Roden adjourned the Regular Meeting of Council for Monday May 13, 2024, at 6:45 pm.

8



 Regular Council Meeting Minutes for Monday, May 13, 2024    6 

Certified to be a true and correct copy of 

the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of  

Council held Monday, May 13, 2024.  

______________________ __________________________ 

Daniela Dyck,  Barbara Roden,  

Chief Administrative Officer Mayor 

9



ADMINISTRATION POLICY 

TITLE:  Hours of Work Policy POLICY #: A-05-2021 

Authority:  Chief Administrative Officer Effective Date:   April 1, 2009 
Review Date:  Annually 

Issued By: Kris Hardy, Executive Assistant 
Issued Date:  July 13, 2021 

Approved By:  Daniela Dyck, CAO 
Approved Date:  April 1, 2009 
Resolution #:  N/A 

PURPOSE: To establish shift schedules for staff for specific times throughout the year 

POLICY:  

This Policy addresses that the following shift schedules be recognized as the standard hours for the following times: 

1. That effective the first Monday in May up to and including the last Friday in November the outside crew’s
hours of work shall be 7:00 am – 3:30 pm

2. That the Village Office be closed from 12:00 pm the last working day before Christmas up until the first
working day after January 1st

This policy formalizes the procedures that have been in place for a number of years. 

Revised: September 9, 2021 

10



ADMINISTRATION POLICY 

TITLE: Office Closure Policy POLICY #: A-05-2024 

Authority:  Council Effective Date:    
Review Date:  Annually 

Issued By: 
Issued Date: 

Approved By:   
Approved Date: 
Resolution #:   

PURPOSE: To establish guidelines, processes, and notifications for Village office closures. 

POLICY: The Village office closure policy establishes guidelines, processes, and notifications for office closures 
 as follows: 

1. The Village office will be closed Monday through Friday from 12:00 pm to 1:00 pm for the lunch hour.

2. The Village Office will be closed from 12:00 pm on the last working day before Christmas until the first
working day after January 1st.

3. The Village office may be closed to the public from time to time for staff training purposes. Public notice of
the office closure will be made one week prior to the closure and will be posted on the Village posting board,
LED sign, website, and social media sites.

11



ADMINISTRATION POLICY 

TITLE: INDIGENOUS COLLECTION & REPATRIATION POLICY POLICY #: A-06-2024 

Authority:  Village of Ashcroft Effective Date: 
Review Date:  

Issued By: 
Issued Date: 

Approved By:  
Approved Date: 
Resolution #:  

PURPOSE: To acknowledge and make aware to Indigenous communities and others the Indigenous 

collections that are under the care of the Ashcroft Museum and Archives. To realize that some of the 

collections under its care may be of cultural importance to the people from which the item originated.    

POLICY STATEMENT: 

The Ashcroft Museum and Archives is committed to continuous dialogue and collaboration with 

Indigenous communities in British Columbia regarding its collections and programs. This includes the 

possibility of repatriation and cooperative management of Indigenous collections, ancestral remains, and 

burial belongings in its care.      

The Museum acknowledges that the cultural heritage of the Indigenous peoples of British Columbia must 

be respected by the users, interpreters, scholars and custodians of these collections. This heritage includes 

cultural belongings, communally owned property and ceremonial items as well as information in archival 

and audio-visual records.   

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF CULTURAL HERITAGE: 

Following the guidance outlined in the Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s report and aligned with the 

principles of the United Nations’ Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, particularly Articles 12 

and 13, it is affirmed that indigenous communities hold the entitlement to reclaim cultural, intellectual, 

religious, and spiritual artifacts wrongfully acquired under cultural and economic coercion, contravening 

their customs and traditions. 

Repatriation, defined as the restoration of cultural artifacts to their country of origin, community, familial 

lineage, or rightful owner, addresses the historical injustices where cultural property was unlawfully 

appropriated. The restitution of such artifacts to their rightful communities is a crucial endeavor in 

rectifying past wrongs. 

12



-2-

INTENT: 

To ensure collaborative engagement with Indigenous communities, the museum will actively involve them 

in the management, custody, documentation, and interpretation of its Indigenous collection. This will be 

achieved through increased partnerships and collaborations, strengthening existing relationships to 

ensure Indigenous perspectives are integrated into the museum's portrayal of their cultures and histories. 

Additionally, efforts will be made to facilitate the repatriation of ancestral remains and burial belongings 

from the museum's collections. The museum will also prioritize responding to provincial treaty and other 

cultural property repatriation requests promptly and with utmost respect. 

Cultural property, encompassing tangible items integral to the cultural heritage of a group or society, by 

definition includes cultural landscapes, historic buildings, artworks, archaeological sites, and collections 

housed in libraries, archives, and museums. Any requests for repatriation will be handled with sensitivity, 

acknowledging the significance of these items to Indigenous communities. 

PROCEDURE & RESPONSE TO REPATRIATION REQUESTS: 

All requests for repatriation must be submitted in writing to the Village of Ashcroft and will be reviewed 

within the established framework of the Village of Ashcroft and the Ashcroft Museum and Archives. Each 

claim must clearly specify the group(s) initiating the request, identify the material(s) subject to the claim, 

and provide reasons for the request. In cases where there is insufficient evidence, either written or oral, 

regarding the acquisition of the object by the Museum, all requests for repatriation will be assessed 

individually.  

Upon receipt, requests for repatriation will be acknowledged by the Village of Ashcroft and then 

forwarded to the Ashcroft Museum for further review and decision-making. If applications are received 

during the off-season they will be forwarded to the Curator at the beginning of the following season for 

processing. A dedicated repatriation case file will be created and maintained for each claim, containing all 

relevant information pertaining to the request.   

The Village/Museum may utilize various means such as advertisements, notifications, or other necessary 

measures to identify potential claimants. A one-month waiting period will be observed to allow any 

interested or conflicting parties to come forward. 

In cases of conflicting claims, the Village/Museum will notify the parties involved and postpone decisions 

regarding repatriation until the conflict is resolved. The Village/Museum will engage in consultation with 

claimants without intervening in internal political or religious matters. Claimants must present a unified 

position to the Village/Museum before the repatriation process can proceed. 

REPATRIATION CRITERIA: 

Requests for repatriation may be considered from Indigenous communities or individuals, supported by 

their community; Indigenous governments; or in the context of negotiations of comprehensive claims 

between Canada and Indigenous people. Repatriation eligibility is based on a demonstrable relationship 

between the claimant and the requested material, which may include lineal descent or cultural affiliation. 

13



Each request will be evaluated based on historical relationships, acquisition conditions, and the possibility 

of conflicting claims. 

ACCESS AND REPRODUCTION: 

The Museum reserves the right to reproduce or copy repatriated items for preservation purposes. 

Additionally, it will grant access to repatriated items, documents, and photographs to interested 

communities for educational and research purposes, subject to appropriate protocols and agreements. 

14



TO: Mayor and Council   MEETING DATE: May 27, 2024 

FROM: Daniela Dyck, CAO 

SUBJECT: Council Committee and Board Appointment Policy Revision 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT, Council approves the revised Council Committee, Board Appointment Policy, which incorporates 

Working Groups in the policy and aligns them with the Strategic Plan as presented or amended; and 

further that Council dissolves the Inter-Community Bylaw Enforcement Working Group, as it has fulfilled its 

purpose. 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to seek Council's approval for the revised Council Committee and Board 

Appointment Policy, which incorporates and aligns Working Groups with the Strategic Plan. Additionally, 

the report requests that Council to dissolve the Inter-Community Bylaw Enforcement Working Group, as 

it has fulfilled its purpose. 

Respectfully Submitted by: 

Daniela Dyck,  

Chief Administrative Officer 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

BACKGROUND: 

At the first meeting of the new Policy Review Committee, the Council Committee and Board Appointment 

Policy was one of the topics discussed. Several changes were proposed, leading to a thorough review and 

update of the policy which is attached for Council review and approval. 

DISCUSSION: 

The most significant change to the policy is the introduction of working groups and the consolidation of 

all committee, board, and working group appointments into Schedule “A,” which is now attached to the 

policy. 

In the recently adopted Strategic Plan, Council identified seven priority goals designed to guide the actions 

of both staff and council, aiming to enhance the quality of life for everyone in Ashcroft. These priority 

goals encompass various projects that fall within their respective scopes. In the past, Council would 

establish working groups for specific projects as needed. The revised Council Committee and Board 

Appointments policy now formally includes provisions for these working groups, establishing one 

dedicated group for each priority goal. 

15



If any projects within a priority goal require working group oversight, the designated working group will 

convene meetings and oversee the project until its completion. This streamlined approach is intended to 

be a more efficient allocation of resources, potentially reducing the number of additional meetings that 

staff and Council members are required to attend. Administration believes this change will enhance 

productivity and ensure more focused and effective project management. 

Besides updating the policy and realigning working groups, another matter has surfaced: the Inter-

Community Bylaw Enforcement working group, which was established to create a shared service for bylaw 

enforcement between the Villages of Ashcroft, Cache Creek, and Clinton, has accomplished its goal and is 

no longer needed. Oversight is handled by the CAOs of each community, with quarterly reports to the 

Council providing an additional layer of transparency. Therefore, the Policy Review Committee is 

recommending that Council dissolve the working group. 

Additionally, this is the opportune time for a review of Council appointments to committees, boards and 

working groups and suggest changes prior to approving the revised policy. 

CONCLUSION: 

In summary, the revisions made to the Council Committee and Board Appointment Policy mark a 

deliberate effort to enhance governance efficiency in Ashcroft. By introducing working groups, 

consolidating appointments, and aligning with the priorities outlined in the Strategic Plan, we're 

simplifying project management and resource allocation. Dissolving of the Inter-Community Bylaw 

Enforcement working group signifies effective collaboration, while regular reporting to Council 

underscores transparent governance. Lastly, a review of appointments to Council committees, boards, 

and working groups, along with potential adjustments, will ensure consistency in governance throughout 

the remainder of the Council's term. 

Strategic/Municipal Objectives 

Strategic Plan 

Legislative Authority 
Policy Review 
Financial Implications 
Attachment Listing 
Revised Council Committee and Board Appointment Policy C-01-2024 

16



COUNCIL POLICY 

TITLE: Council Committee/Board Appointment Policy POLICY #: C-01-2024 

Authority:  Policy Review Committee Effective Date: 
Review Date:  

Issued By: 
Issued Date: 

Approved By:  
Approved Date: 
Resolution #:  

PURPOSE: To establish procedures for Standing Committee Appointments and Select Committees of Council as 

defined in the Community Charter as well as Council Appointments to Internal Boards, External Boards and 

Working Groups 

POLICY: 

Preamble 

The Village of Ashcroft Council will have Standing Committees and Select Committees as defined in Section 141 and 

142 of the Community Charter. In addition, there are Council appointments to Internal Boards, External Boards and 

Working Groups. 

At the inaugural meeting of Council, Standing Committee appointments will be made. In order to determine 

appointments to Select Committees, External Boards, Internal Boards, and Working Groups, a comprehensive list of 

all committees, boards, and working groups will be provided to Council for review. Members will be asked to notify 

staff of their preferences prior to the Committee of the Whole meeting, which will be scheduled before the first 

Regular Meeting of Council after an election. Committee appointments will be selected during the Committee of the 

Whole meeting and forwarded to the Regular Meeting of Council for approval. All committee, board and working 

group appointments are for a two (2) year term. 

Standing Committees 

141. Standing Committees of Council

141. (1) The mayor must establish standing committees for matters the mayor considers would be better dealt with
by committee and must appoint persons to those committees. 

(2) At least half of the members of a standing committee must be council members.

(3) Subject to subsection (2), persons who are not council members may be appointed to a standing committee.
(Appendix “A” Oath of Confidentiality)

17



• Standing and Select Committees are defined in Council Procedure Bylaw Part 10 and  11. The following
establishes the appointment to these committees.

• Each Standing Committee will have two members of Council appointed to them. The first named Committee
member will act as the Chairperson of the Committee and the second named is Vice-Chairperson.

• A Councillor may not be the chairperson of more than one standing committee at any given time.

• A Council member shall not be the Chairperson of a Standing Committee for longer than one year at a time.

• As defined in Section 141 of the Community Charter Standing Committees may consist of two additional
members of the Public.

• The Committees listed below are to be established as Standing Committees of the Village of Ashcroft Council.

Active Standing Committees 

• Finance – 3 members of Council appointed after the municipal election at the Inaugural Meeting.

• Policy Review – 2 Members, 1 Alternate

Select Committees 

142. Select committees of council

142. (1) A council may establish and appoint a select committee to consider or inquire into any matter and to report

its findings and opinion to the council. 

(2) At least one member of a select committee must be a council member.

(3) Subject to subsection (2), persons who are not council members may be appointed to a select committee.

• Select Committees must be created by resolution of Council.

• At least one member of Council must be on the committee.

• Council membership of the committee will be decided at the time of creation.

• The Council Members appointed to the Select Committee may choose the other members of the Committee.

• Each Select Committee shall have a clearly defined purpose, clearly defined expected outcomes, a clearly

defined timeline for reporting back to Council and provision for a budget.

• Each Select Committee is automatically dissolved upon the Committee presenting its findings to Council.

Active Select Committees are as per Schedule “A” and attached to this policy. 

External and Internal Boards 

Appointing Council members to external and internal boards is to ensure effective representation, oversight, and 

collaboration between the Council and these boards, facilitating communication, promoting transparency, and 

protecting the interests of the Village in decision-making processes. These appointments aim to strengthen 

relationships, foster cooperation, and address constituents' needs effectively. 

18



Active External and Internal Boards are as per Schedule “A” and attached to this policy. 

Working Groups 

Working Groups are to be established and terminated by decision of the Council as necessary to fulfill the strategic and 

operational plans approved by Council. Working groups will consist of two (2) Council members and two (2) staff members. 

From time to time persons who are not council members may be appointed to a working group; however, the appointees 

must be approved by Council. 

Active Working Groups are as per Schedule “A” and attached to this policy. 

19



SCHEDULE “A” 
COUNCIL APPOINTMENTS 2023 – 2026 

Deputy Mayor Appointments: 

Councillor Anstett - November 1, 2022 to October 31, 2023 

Councillor Clement Nov. 1, 2023 – Oct.31, 2024,  

Councillor Davenport Nov. 1, 2024 - Oct. 31, 2025 

Councillor Lambert Nov 1, 2025 – Oct.15, 2026 

Active Standing Committees: 

Finance Committee – B. Roden / J. Clement / D. Lambert 

Policy Review Committee – B. Roden / J. Clement / Alternate: J. Anstett 

Active Select Committees: 

Japanese Mural Repair – 1 Member – 1 Alternate 

Active External Boards: 

Thompson Nicola Regional District – B. Roden / Alternate: Deputy Mayor 

Northern Development Initiative Trust – J. Clement / Alternate:  N. Davenport  

Gold Country Communities Society – B. Roden / Alternate: J. Clement  

Historic Hat Creek Ranch – B. Roden / Alternate: N. Davenport  

Cache Creek Environmental Assessment – J. Anstett / Alternate: D. Lambert  

Health Care (HAWC) – J. Clement / Alternate: N. Davenport  

School District #74 – J. Clement / Alternate: B. Roden  

Ashcroft Cache Creek Seniors Association – D. Lambert / Alternate: J. Anstett 

Municipal Insurance Association – B. Roden / Alternate: Deputy Mayor  

Ashcroft HUB Society – N. Davenport / Alternate: D. Lambert  

Active Internal Boards: 

Ashcroft Fire Rescue – D. Lambert / Alternate: N. Davenport 

Emergency Support Services – J. Anstett / N. Davenport  

Para Transit Committee – N. Davenport / Alternate: B. Roden 

Active Working Groups:  

Water to Ashcroft Indian Band – D. Lambert / N. Davenport  

North Ashcroft Reservoir – J. Anstett / N. Davenport  

Economic Development & Tourism – J. Clement / N. Davenport  

Parks, Trails & Recreation – J. Anstett / J. Clement / Alternate: A. Davenport 

Street Safety – B. Roden / D. Lambert / Alternate: J. Anstett 

20



TO: Mayor and Council   MEETING DATE: May 27, 2024 

FROM: Daniela Dyck, CAO 

SUBJECT: UBCM Minister Meeting Requests
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT, Council direct staff to schedule meetings with Minister Flemming, Ministry of Transportation and 

Infrastructure,  Ministry, Agency, Commission, and Corporation (MACC) staff from BC Transit, ………. 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to seek direction from Council as to which Ministers or Ministry Staff, 
Agencies, Commissions or Corporations Council would like to meet with at UBCM in September. 

Respectfully Submitted by: 

Daniela Dyck,  

Chief Administrative Officer 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

BACKGROUND: 

Each year the province invites Councils and Boards to request meetings with Minister and or MACC staff 

to discuss and lobby for items of importance to their community. Requests to meet with the Premier, the 

Minister of Municipal Affairs, or other Ministers must be submitted by June 21, 2024. Requests to meet 

with MACC staff must be submitted by August 21, 2024. 

DISCUSSION: 

Council endorsed the submission of a Resolution to the Southern Interior Local Government Association 

(SILGA) in support of equitable distribution of cost increases between BC Transit and local government 

transit services which was endorsed by the SILGA membership at the 2024 Conference. The resolution has 

been forward to UBCM Resolution Committee for further discussion. The Para Transit Committee 

encourages Council to request a meeting with the Minister of Transportation and Infrastructure and a 

separate meeting with BC Transit (MACC) staff to advocate for affordable services, equitable distribution 

of cost increases between BC Transit and local governments, and consultation regarding the 

regionalization of transit services at the 2024 UBCM Conference. 

Administration is seeking guidance from Council on which additional meetings with Ministers or MACC 

staff they would like to request.  

Strategic/Municipal Objectives 

Legislative Authority 
Financial Implications 
Attachment Listing 
Letters from Premier Eby, Minister Kang, and MACC 

21



22



23



From: MUNI UBCM Meeting Requests MUNI:EX
Subject: 2024 UBCM Convention – Provincial Appointment Book & MACC Staff Meeting Request Process
Date: May 15, 2024 1:44:39 PM
Attachments: 2024 UBCM Convention Provincial Appointment Book.pdf
Importance: High

This message is being sent to all Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) Member Municipalities, Regional
Districts, and First Nations on behalf of the Ministry of Municipal Affairs.

Subject: 2024 UBCM Convention - Provincial Appointment Book and Ministry,
Agency, Commission, and Corporation (MACC) Staff Meeting Request
Process

Intended Recipient(s): Mayors/Regional District Chairs/Islands Trust Chair/CAOs/Chiefs and
Chief Councillors
and cc: General Email/Administrative Support staff/Alternates

Attachments: One (1) plus message below

If you have received this message in error, please forward it to the appropriate person in your
organization.

2024 UBCM Convention:  September 16 – 20, 2024, Vancouver, B.C.

Further to the May 15, 2024 letter from the Honourable Anne Kang, Minister of Municipal Affairs,
regarding the 2024 UBCM Convention, I am pleased to attach the 2024 Provincial Appointment Book
(PAB) for your use in requesting meetings with staff from provincial ministries, agencies,
commissions, and corporations (MACC) available to meet with delegates at Convention.

To request a meeting with MACC staff, please complete the form located at:
https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/Staff
Invitation code: MACCStaff2024 (case sensitive)

The deadline to submit online meeting requests is Wednesday, August 21. Decisions regarding MACC
staff meeting requests will be communicated by September 11 to the contact(s) identified on your
meeting request form.

Requests for meetings with MACC staff can also be made on site at the Provincial Appointment Desk,
during Convention at the following locations:

Monday, September 16 
Vancouver Convention Centre, East Building - Lobby
8:30 am – 4:00 pm

Tuesday, September 17 - Thursday, September 19
Fairmont Waterfront Hotel, Concourse Level – Mackenzie Ballroom
8:30 am – 4:00 pm

We encourage you to submit your meeting requests through the online request form by August 21,

24

mailto:MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca
https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/Staff



2024 PROVINCIAL  
APPOINTMENT BOOK  


Meeting Requests with: 
 
The Premier, Cabinet Ministers, and  
Provincial Government Staff from Ministries,  
Agencies, Commissions, and Corporations (MACC) 
at the 2024 UBCM CONVENTION  
September 16 – 20, 2024  


Vancouver, British Columbia 







 


TABLE OF CONTENTS  


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 2                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


INTRODUCTION........................................................................................................... 3 


MEETING REQUEST INFORMATION AND LINKS............................................................ 4 


PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT MINISTRIES AVAILABLE DURING THE 2024 UBCM  
CONVENTION.............................................................................................................. 5 


MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD......................................................................................................... 5 


ATTORNEY GENERAL....................................................................................................................................... 7 


MINISTRY OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY DEVELOPMENT................................................................................... 9 


MINISTRY OF CITIZENS’ SERVICES................................................................................................................. 10 


MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND CHILD CARE................................................................................................. 14 


MINISTRY OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND CLIMATE READINESS........................................................ 15  


MINISTRY OF ENERGY, MINES AND LOW CARBON INNOVATION................................................................. 17  


MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY................................................................ 21  


MINISTRY OF FINANCE.................................................................................................................................. 24 


MINISTRY OF FORESTS.................................................................................................................................. 26 


MINISTRY OF HEALTH.................................................................................................................................... 28 


MINISTRY OF HOUSING................................................................................................................................. 30 


MINISTRY OF INDIGENOUS RELATIONS AND RECONCILIATION.................................................................... 33 


MINISTRY OF JOBS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION............................................................ 34 


MINISTRY OF LABOUR................................................................................................................................... 38 


MINISTRY OF MENTAL HEALTH AND ADDICTIONS........................................................................................ 39 


MINISTRY OF MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS................................................................................................................ 40 


MINISTRY OF POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION AND FUTURE SKILLS.............................................................. 43 


MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL............................................................................... 45 


MINISTRY OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND POVERTY REDUCTION................................................................ 49 


MINISTRY OF TOURISM, ARTS, CULTURE AND SPORT................................................................................... 51 


MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE............................................................................. 53 


MINISTRY OF WATER, LAND AND RESOURCE STEWARDSHIP........................................................................55 


PROVINCIAL AGENCIES, COMMISSIONS, AND CORPORATIONS AVAILABLE DURING THE 


UBCM 2024 CONVENTION......................................................................................... 59 







 


 


INTRODUCTION 


On-Site Provincial Appointment Desk 


The Provincial Appointment Book provides 
UBCM Local Government and First Nations 
members instructions on how to request a 
meeting with the Premier, Cabinet 
Ministers, and provincial Ministries, 
Agencies, Commissions, and Corporations 
(MACC) staff, to be scheduled during the 
week of 2024 UBCM Convention. 


Within this document are three individual 
links to meeting request forms for meetings 
with: 


    1. Premier and Cabinet Ministers;  


    2. Host Minister, Honourable Anne Kang,   
        Municipal Affairs; and 


    3. Provincial Ministries, Agencies,  
        Commissions, and Corporations (MACC)    
        staff. 
 


Meeting Details 


Meetings with the Premier and Cabinet 
Ministers, including the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs, will be 15 minutes in 
length and will take place in person during 
the following dates: 


 


Meetings with MACC staff, will be 30 
minutes in length (20 minutes for the 
Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure only), and will take place in 
person during the following dates: 


 


Information on each MACC’s programs,  
projects, and scope of work is also included. 


Provincial Appointment Desk staff will be available on-site to receive meeting requests for 
MACC staff at the following locations: 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 3                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


 


Please note that MACC staff availability may be limited on-site. 


Monday, September 16 to  
Friday, September 20 


Vancouver Convention Centre,  
East Building  


New for 2024: Monday, September 16 
Fairmont Waterfront Hotel,  


Concourse Level — Malaspina Room 
 


Tuesday, September 17 to 
Thursday, September 19 


Fairmont Waterfront Hotel,  
Concourse Level — MacKenzie Ballroom 


Monday, September 16 
Vancouver Convention Centre, 


East Building — Lobby 
8:30 am — 4:00 pm 


Tuesday, September 17 to 
Thursday, September 19 


Fairmont Waterfront Hotel, 
Concourse Level — MacKenzie Ballroom 


8:30 am — 4:00 pm 







 


 


MEETING REQUEST INFORMATION AND LINKS 


Honourable David Eby, Premier 
and Cabinet Ministers 
 
(Except Minister of Municipal Affairs) 


Provincial Government MACC 
Staff 
(Ministries, Agencies, Commissions, and 
Corporations) 


Honourable Anne Kang,  
Minister of Municipal Affairs 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 4                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


Click: Premier and Cabinet Ministers  
      Meeting Requests  
 


Invitation Code: MeetingRequest2024  
(case sensitive) 
 


Deadline:  June 21, 2024 
 


Contact:   
Marlène Behrens  
Premier’s UBCM Meeting Request Coordinator 
250 213-3856 
UBCM.Meetings@gov.bc.ca 
 


Click:  Municipal Affairs Minister’s       
   Meeting Requests 
 


Invitation Code: MUNIMin2024 
(case sensitive) 
 
Deadline:  June 21, 2024 
 


Contact: 
Katie Carrothers 
MUNI-UBCM Minister’s Meeting Coordinator  
236 478-0537 
MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca 
 


Click: MACC Staff Meeting Requests 
 
 


Invitation Code: MACCStaff2024 
(case sensitive) 
 
Deadline:  August 21, 2024 
 


Contact:   
Sarah Staszkiel 
MACC Staff Meeting Coordinator 
778 405-1784 
MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca 
 
Casey Cathcart 
Assistant MACC Staff Meeting Coordinator 
778 405-3140 
MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca 
 
 


Once MACC staff meetings have been 
scheduled, confirmations will be sent 
to UBCM Local Government and First 
Nations members via email by 
September 11.  



https://ubcmreg.gov.bc.ca/

https://ubcmreg.gov.bc.ca/

mailto:UBCM.Meetings@gov.bc.ca

https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/MUNI

https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/MUNI

mailto:MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca

https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/Staff

mailto:MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca

mailto:MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca





 


PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT MINISTRIES AVAILABLE   
DURING THE 2024 UBCM CONVENTION 


MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 5                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Business Risk  
Management Branch 


• Helps producers manage risks such as weather hazards, natural disasters, 


wildlife, diseases, pests, and market declines, that cause income losses and 


lead to financial instability. The branch delivers three programs to help 


farmers manage financial risk: Production Insurance offers insurance 


protection for agricultural crops against weather perils; Agri-Stability 


protects farm enterprises from the financial impacts of significant margin 


declines which can be caused by increasing input costs or reduced 


agricultural revenues; and Wildlife Damage Compensation - compensates 


farmers for losses due to wildlife.  


Corporate, Policy and 
Priorities Branch 


• Provides corporate leadership, coordination, and analysis of policy, 


legislative and data issues related to the ministry’s mandate. The branch 


guides the development of ministry policy and legislation, including 


managing stakeholder relationships, participating in provincial policy and 


legislation development, and overseeing policy and legislative projects. The 


branch serves as the central resource for internal and external clients on 


relevant, comprehensive, high-quality, and timely economic and social data 


on the province's farming, commercial fishing, aquaculture and food and 


beverage processing industries.  


Extension and  
Support Services 
Branch 


• Identifies and promotes agriculture and food production/processing systems 


that are sustainable and enhance the economic benefits to the province. The 


branch maintains operations in all agriculture regions of the province to 


deliver ministry programs and services through a network of regional 


agrologists, land use planners, technical and industry specialists. The branch 


works through a variety of strategic partnerships and is the primary point of 


contact for the ministry’s agriculture clients, both businesses and 


associations. The branch also provides professional agricultural support to 


local government planning and emergency response processes, and to both 


the Agricultural Land Commission and the Farm Industry Review Board.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 6                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Food and Beverage 
Branch 


• Leads market and business development activities for farmers, food and 


beverage processors and Indigenous communities as well as key initiatives 


such as Grow BC, Feed BC, Buy BC, and the BC Food Hub Network. The 


branch works in partnership across regional stakeholders, industry, public 


sector organizations and levels of government to enhance the agriculture 


and food and beverage sector’s capacity, inclusivity, and competitiveness, 


grow provincial food system resilience, promote career opportunities, and 


support current and next generation entrepreneurs.  


Food Safety Inspection 
Branch 


• Safeguards public health by ensuring that agri-food, meat, and seafood 


produced in the province is safe and wholesome. The branch works in 


partnership with other federal and provincial agencies to facilitate food 


safety through three main program areas which are led by an Executive 


Director and supported by a team of administrative and policy and program 


advisory staff. The branch also supports food safety through the Canadian 


Agricultural Partnership by administering On-Farm Food Safety and Post-


Farm Food Safety.  


Office of the Chief  
Veterinarian 


• Provides provincial leadership on regulated animal and zoonotic diseases, 


One Health and One Welfare in British Columbia. The branch works to build 


resilient animal health systems for B.C. in collaboration with provincial 


ministries, the federal government, livestock industry, and veterinary 


professionals.  


Plant and Animal 
Health Branch 


• Supports the sustainability of animal and plant agriculture while serving to 


protect the well-being of the people of British Columbia through diagnostic 


services, surveillance, risk assessment, and the development of strategies to 


address identified risks. The branch addresses plant health risks and issues 


that affect plant and agriculture productivity, environmental sustainability 


and competitiveness of agricultural crops in British Columbia. Through 


diagnostic services and surveillance, the branch helps protect human health 


with the timely and accurate diagnosis of zoonotic diseases in the public 


health and food safety sectors (e.g., SARS-CoV-2, influenza, Salmonella).  


MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 7                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Regenerative 
Agriculture and 
Climate Initiatives 


• Supports formulation of strategies, identifies opportunities, and drives the 


development and implementation of regenerative agriculture, innovation, 


climate initiatives and emergency management. This includes advancing B.C. 


as a leader in food security and the emerging agri-tech sector, helping 


companies bring innovation to agriculture and position B.C. as an agri-tech 


leader. Developing strategies and plans to maintain a new regenerative 


agricultural network, creating opportunities for farmers and greater food 


security by bringing together natural systems of production with                   


agri-technologies that enhance production. Developing strategies and plans 


to achieve CleanBC climate action plan goals, helping farmers, ranchers and 


food processors prepare for climate impacts and ensure food security. 


Oversight of the ministry’s Emergency Management function, including 


management of issues relating to avian influenza, wildfire, floods, and other 


natural or unexpected emergencies.  


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Court Services Branch • Responsible for case documentation and adjudication support for all matters 


going before the court, including case initiation and processing, fee 


collection, file and exhibit management, court clerking, court records and 


transcripts, interpreter services, and the preparation and dissemination of 


court orders. In addition, the Court Services Branch is responsible for 


courtroom and courthouse security, prisoner custody and escort, document 


service, and jury administration. 


MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE AND FOOD CONTINUED... 


ATTORNEY GENERAL 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 8                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Indigenous Justice  
Secretariat 


• Leads the implementation of the First Nations Justice Strategy (“the 


Strategy”) within government, including influencing social sector areas that 


provide health and housing supports for individuals in the justice system. At 


the core of the Strategy is the rebuilding of First Nations justice systems as 


an expression of self-determination. As such, the Indigenous Justice 


Secretariat has a vital role in supporting First Nations in that rebuilding work. 


This includes the Secretariat advancing changes within government to laws, 


policies, and practices that are directly responsive to what First Nations 


determine is needed for Strategy implementation and rebuilding of their 


justice systems. In addition, the Indigenous Justice Secretariat is responsible 


for cross-ministry implementation of the Strategy and operationalization of 


the identified priorities within government. This includes implementation of 


the Declaration Act where it intersects with justice, as well as supporting 


relationships with the province and Canada to advance jointly identified 


priorities, funding, and partnership opportunities where the Strategy aligns 


with provincial and federal mandates. 


Justice Services Branch • Improves users' access to justice and experience with the administration of 


justice in B.C. by transforming elements of the justice system. The Justice 


Services Branch delivers programs and services relating to family justice, 


Indigenous justice, and access to justice. The branch also develops policy and 


legislation and supports tribunals, agencies, and independent offices within 


the ministry, and leads strategic projects to create change and systemic 


impact on the justice sector. 


Multiculturalism and 
Anti-Racism Branch 


• Anti-Racism Data Act. 


• Anti-Racism Act. 


• Multiculturalism and Anti-Racism Grant program. 


• Multiculturalism and Anti-Racism Awards. 


• Historical Wrongs Initiatives. 


• Racist Incident Support Line. 


• Report on Multiculturalism. 


• Resilience BC anti-racism network and provincial coordination on anti-racism 
and anti-hate initiatives. 


• Multicultural Advisory Council (MAC). 


• Proclamations Program. 


ATTORNEY GENERAL CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 9                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Strategic Services  
Division  


• The Strategic Services Division provides expertise to enable large-scale,     


cross-ministry, and complex system transformation as envisioned in the 


ministry’s Strategic Framework. The division leads: 


 Project management —  supports strategic initiatives and continuous 


improvement through tracking, assessing and making 


recommendations on project risks, mitigation strategies and resource 


deployment. 


 Change management — champions organizational change and       


effective implementation of significant change initiatives with staff 


and external partners and service providers. 


 Transformation integration — oversees alignment and integration of 


priority transformation projects to support the roll-out of system wide 


changes in a coordinated way and to ensure operational needs are met. 


• Strategic planning and communications – directs, coordinates, and manages 


planning, reporting, internal, external, and web-based communications and 


engagement.  


Service Delivery 
Division 


• Service Delivery Division provides critical services to children, youth, 


young adults, and families throughout the province, including child 


protection and family support, children and youth with support needs, 


child and youth mental health, adoption and guardianship, youth justice, 


and supports for youth transitioning to adulthood. Services, including 


24/7 operations, are delivered through 169 community-based District 


Offices, Provincial Centralized Services Centre, Maples Adolescent 


Treatment Centre, Child & Youth Mental Health Intake Clinics, Victory Hill 


Dorm, Burnaby Youth Custody Centre, Inpatient Assessment Unit, Youth 


Forensic Services, and Family Connections Centres.  


MINISTRY OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY DEVELOPMENT 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 10                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Strategic Integration, 
Policy and Legislation 
Division 


• Offers a variety of programs and services, including adoption, programs for 


children with support needs and mental health concerns, community 


resources for children and youth in or transitioning from government care, 


child welfare, and support for youth involved in the justice system’s 


practices. 


Strategic Integration, 
Policy and Legislation 
Division / Early Years 
and Inclusion Policy, 
Communications and 
Engagement  


• The Early Years and Inclusion Policy, Communications and Engagement 


branch provides development and oversight of strategic and operational 


policy for early childhood development programs and services for children 


and youth with support needs (CYSN). The team incorporates a                 


cross-government approach for programs and services for children and 


families and is currently working to co-develop an improved system of 


services for CYSN. Policy staff also research and develop innovative 


approaches for citizen engagement and program delivery. 


MINISTRY OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY DEVELOPMENT CONTINUED... 


MINISTRY OF CITIZENS’ SERVICES  


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


BC Data Service  • BC Data Service (BCDS) is a leader, convener and a trusted advisor for 


collaborative data solutions that enable government to better serve the 


people of B.C. BCDS enables teams across government to better deliver 


services by leading data policy development and management and providing 


data analysis, tools, platforms, training, and support. The BCDS is the trusted 


go-to-leader for data analysis, statistics about people in B.C. and data 


management. 


• BCDS delivers several data access, analysis and use programs that support 


the modernization of government, including BC Stats, DataBC, the Data 


Innovation Program and the Data Science Partnerships Program. The division 


also provides additional data services including, Strategic Data Management, 


Web Mapping, Location Services, API Services, Data Discovery and 


Publication and Research and Analytics. 


• BCDS is primarily responsible for two major government priorities: 


implementation of B.C.’s Anti-Racism Data Act and delivery of the BC Data 


Plan which includes co-development commitments on Indigenous data 


sovereignty and a framework for using Indigenous languages when 


interacting with government.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 11                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Connectivity  • Internet and cellular connectivity: The division provides guidance on 


planning for broadband internet (including wired, wireless and satellite) to 


communities and highway and community cellular coverage to municipal 


and regional governments and oversees the Connecting British Columbia and 


the Connecting Communities BC funding programs. 


• Local and regional government connectivity planning resources and tools: 


Programming supports local governments, First Nations, and regional 


districts by assisting with connectivity planning and helping communities to 


better understand how to achieve greater economic, environmental, public 


safety and social benefits enabled through high-speed internet. 


• Local and regional government supports for NG911: The division is             


supporting Next Generation 911 (NG911) implementation through funding 


provided to UBCM in 2023 to enable municipalities to build the capacity and 


resources they require to make decisions and implement updated technical 


infrastructure required by NG911.  


Government Digital 
Experience 


• GDX provides the technical infrastructure that enables gov.bc.ca, and 


manages high priority web content, including the translation of content for 


COVID-19 and vaccinations.  


• The division also leads government’s efforts to gather feedback from people 


in the province, and to provide expert advice for how to design programs 


and services that work for those who use them.  


• GDX is responsible for government’s web training, standards and digital 


accessibility and supports plain language, easy to navigate and access 


information.  


MINISTRY OF CITIZENS’ SERVICES CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 12                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Office of Chief 
Information Officer 


• The OCIO supports the transformation of government services through 


integration, collaboration, and innovation. It leads strategy, policy and 


standards that support digital government and information management 


including information technology, IT security, integrated data, privacy, and 


the management of the Information Management/IT investment portfolio for 


the province. 


• It provides corporate information management services to government 


including Freedom of Information; proactive disclosures of information; 


privacy, records management, and elements of information security. 


• Through the CyberBC program, the OCIO provides broader B.C. public sector 


organizations with resources to help improve cybersecurity. Specifically, it 


covers the foundations of cybersecurity including security frameworks, 


policy, standards, assessments of threats and weaknesses, and minimization 


of risks. Additionally, in 2024 procurement for advisory as well as 


operational security services will be completed and allow broader B.C. public 


sector organizations to access these through a corporate supply 


arrangement. The goal is to raise the collective bar for cybersecurity across 


the province in the face of increased threats.  


Procurement and 
Supply 


• The division plays a leadership role in government procurement and supply 


services. These activities serve the provincial government, the broader public 


sector, the public and, in some cases, municipalities. For example, 


municipalities use BC Bid to provide vendors with information on upcoming 


procurement operations and Asset Investment Recovery to dispose of 


municipal surplus assets in a convenient, environmentally friendly manner 


that returns a fair market value to the municipality. 


• The division is the lead for coordinating access to the Federal National 


Memorandum of Understanding (NMUA) which grants access to provinces 


and territories to numerous Corporate Supply Agreements created by the 


federal government. 


• BC Bid is also connected to CanadaBuys which is the federal site for all 


Canadian provinces and territories allowing B.C. to comply with the 


Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA). Opportunities on BC 


Bid are posted overnight to CanadaBuys, increasing the pool of suppliers 


that will see and potentially bid on opportunities from the various 


municipalities, academic institutions, schools, and hospitals. 


MINISTRY OF CITIZENS’ SERVICES CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 13                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Real Property  • The Real Property Division (RPD) provides everything needed to design, set 


up and manage a government workplace. RPD has responsibility for the 


province’s real estate portfolio. Real estate for schools, post-secondary 


institutions, hospitals, and municipalities are excluded from RPD’s 


responsibilities. RPD provides strategic real estate advice, acquisitions, 


dispositions, and space planning. RPD’s client base includes ministry 


(mandated) as well as broader sector (voluntary) customers.  


Service BC  • Service BC (SBC) is government’s chief provider of services to B.C. residents 


and businesses. Through a provincial network of 65 service centres and the 


SBC Provincial Contact Centre, SBC provides approximately 300 government 


services on behalf of more than 40 partner ministries and agencies. The 


division enables the design and delivery of accessible, responsive, and       


cost-effective services, making it easier for residents and businesses to 


interact with government. 


• The BC Corporate Registries Branch facilitates and supports commerce in the 


province through administration and verification of business, personal 


property, and manufactured home registrations. The Provincial Identity 


Information Management Program delivers trusted, secure identity service 


to support access to digital government services and information. 


MINISTRY OF CITIZENS’ SERVICES CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 14                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Child Care Division  • The Child Care Division leads the development and implementation of 


ChildCare BC, government’s 10-year strategy launched in 2018. This strategy 


is building affordable, accessible, quality, inclusive child care as a core 


service for families, and plays a key role in government’s commitment to 


putting people first.  


• Through provincial programs and through partnership with the federal 


government, the Child Care Division delivers a wide variety of programs. Key 


programs delivered under through the Child Care Division include those 


providing operational funding for child care providers and cost-saving fee 


reductions for parents, capital grant programs for expanding and 


maintaining child care spaces, education and professional development 


supports for learners, and supports for community-based programs such as 


Child Care Resource and Referral Centres and Young Parent Program. In 


addition, the division supports programs that help families and children 


access and participate in fully inclusive child care settings, as well as funding 


and supporting the development and expansion of distinctions-based 


Indigenous-led child care. 


• The ministry, through the Child Care Division, has oversight of the Early 


Childhood Educator Registry, which issues provincial certifications, accesses 


and recommends approval for Early Childhood Educator (ECE) post-


secondary programs, and investigates complaints regarding ECE and Early 


Childhood Educator Assistant (ECEA) conduct and competence.  


• The division oversees the child care budget of $827.377M for FY 23/24.  


Resource Management 
Division 


• The Resource Management Division is responsible for the oversight and 


management of approximately $7.8 billion in operating funding to the 


K-12 sector; the K-12 funding formula; and school district shared services 


initiatives and child care initiatives and programs. In addition, the division is 


responsible for the ministry’s overall budget and financial oversight and a 


wide range of corporate services: financial services; strategic human 


resources; risk management; and planning/reporting.  


MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND CHILD CARE 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 15                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Corporate Services 
Division 


• Responsible for the provision of strategic advice and the delivery of          


corporate services to support Ministry programs and services. 


• Manages the Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements (DFAA) claim           


administration and provincial cost tracking. 


• Responsible for public education initiatives including: 


 The delivery of PreparedBC, the Province’s preparedness public 


education program serving First Nations communities, local 


authorities and the public. 


 The development of resources, programs, and social media 


campaigns aimed at influencing positive disaster risk reductions.  


Disaster Recovery • Leads coordination of provincial ministry and agency supports for 


communities following a disaster with regionally-based teams. 


• Implements the Disaster Financial Assistance (DFA) program, and when DFA 


is not available, seeks alternative government and non-government funding 


opportunities to assist impacted parties. 


• Administers DFA appeals process. 


• Responsible for disaster recovery operational policy including national flood 


insurance program development, cross government disaster recovery 


framework, and recovery specialists who are ready to deploy to assist 


communities when a disaster strikes.  


Disaster Risk  
Management 


• Leads emergency management and provincial business continuity          


management planning. 


• Conducts emergency management training and exercises. 


• Undertakes strategic after actions reviews of disaster events, undertaking 


provincial and regional disaster and climate risk assessments. 


• Administers funding programs for First Nations and local governments to 


advance disaster risk reduction through planning and mitigation activities. 


• Advances policy, programs, and strategies to reduce disaster and climate 


risks.  


MINISTRY OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND CLIMATE READINESS 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 16                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Partnerships,  
Engagement and  
Legislation  


• Delivers ministry’s strategic policy and legislation. This work includes 


providing guidance on EMCR’s modernized legislation, the Emergency and 


Disaster Management Act (EDMA), and the development of new regulations, 


such as the Local Authorities Regulation and Compensation and Disaster 


Financial Assistance Regulation. 


• Leads the development and implementation of EMCR’s inter-agency and  


inter-governmental partnerships. 


• Leads EMCR’s emergency management partnership agreements with the 


federal government, local governments, First Nations, emergency 


management partner agencies, critical infrastructure operators,                  


non-governmental, faith-based, and other emergency management partners 


and agencies.  


Regional Operations • Leads and coordinates the preparedness and response to provincial and 


regional-level emergencies and disasters, supporting other authorities within 


their areas of jurisdiction by working directly with First Nations, local 


authorities, provincial ministries and agencies, federal departments, other 


jurisdictions, industry, and volunteers. 


• Leads and coordinates 24/7 emergency management capability through six 


regional offices located in Surrey, Kamloops, Nelson, Prince George, and     


Terrace, with the Vancouver Island Regional Office co-located at the Ministry 


of Emergency Management and Climate Readiness (EMCR) Headquarters 


(HQ) in Victoria. In addition, EMCR HQ houses the Emergency Coordination 


Centre and Provincial Duty Managers providing 24/7 situational awareness, 


activation of response to emergencies, including broadcast intrusive alerting. 


• Coordinates BC’s Public Safety Lifeline Volunteer groups, who provide an 


array of critical, front-line emergency services, including Ground Search and 


Rescue, Air Search and Rescue, Road Rescue, Emergency Support Services, 


and Emergency Radio Communications.  


MINISTRY OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND CLIMATE READINESS 
CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 17                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Energy  
Resources  
Division 


• The division is accountable for the management and responsible 


development of the province’s energy resources.  It issues and administers 


Crown petroleum, natural gas, geothermal and carbon capture related 


subsurface tenures  and  tenure revenues; and maintains petroleum 


geology databases and systems. 


• The division oversees the province’s royalty system (with the Ministry of 


Finance); develops policy, statutes and regulations that apply to the energy 


resource sector and to support achieving greenhouse gas reduction targets 


as it relates to the sector, including methane emissions targets. 


• The division collaborates across-government on Indigenous reconciliation 


initiatives and environmental monitoring and research programs, conducts 


oil and gas resource assessments, manages resource development 


planning and  cumulative effects, guides modernized land use planning, 


develops environmental practices and initiates and administers oil and 


natural gas restoration programs. 


• The Clean Energy and Major Projects Office (CEMPO) is the main point of 


contact for proponents looking to bring clean energy projects to British 


Columbia and works across government to support clean energy projects, 


including hydrogen, biofuels, and renewable natural gas. CEMPO is 


responsible for the effective implementation of LNG Canada, Cedar LNG, 


Woodfibre, and the associated pipelines. 


MINISTRY OF ENERGY, MINES, AND LOW CARBON INNOVATION 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 18                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Electricity and Utility 
Regulation 
Division  


• The division is responsible for British Columbia’s electricity and alternative 


energy sectors, including BC Hydro. These sectors are made up of diverse 


interests that develop electricity generation, transmission, and distribution 


infrastructure, clean or renewable energy sources, including biomass, biogas, 


hydrogen, geothermal, hydro, solar, ocean, and wind. The division is taking a 


lead role in the development of a Climate Aligned Energy Framework for the 


province. 


• The division focuses on increasing electrification, and deployment of low 


carbon energy by supporting BC Hydro’s 2024 call for power, and 


implementing policies and legislation to support BC Utilities Commission 


oversight of B.C.’s regulated energy utilities, including BC Hydro, FortisBC 


and Pacific Northern Gas, in their delivery of conventional and low-carbon 


clean energy across the province. 


• In association with the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change 


Strategy, the division has responsibility for policies, programs, regulations 


and legislation to support the province’s legislated short and long-term; 


greenhouse gas (GHG)  reduction targets, including: the Greenhouse Gas 


Reduction (Clean Energy) Regulation, the Utilities Commission Act, and the 


Clean Energy Act. 


• The division supports the Minister’s oversight of BC Hydro and is responsible 


for public utility regulatory policy under the Utilities Commission Act. The 


division leads provincial collaboration with the British Columbia Utilities 


Commission to reframe the Commission’s current role as an economic 


regulator to  align with the province’s climate action, energy and affordability 


objectives, especially for low-income households. 


• The division also administers the Innovative Clean Energy (ICE) Fund, a 


special account used to further the energy and environmental priorities of 


the government. 


• The division is responsible for co-leading the Indigenous Clean Energy            


Opportunities (ICEO) process with the First Nations Energy and Mining Council 


which engages with First Nations rights holders and organizations in a 


collaborative dialogue to: 


 Fully participate in current and future clean energy opportunities. 


 Align the Province’s strategic clean energy policy and legislation with 


the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous people. 


MINISTRY OF ENERGY, MINES, AND LOW CARBON INNOVATION 
CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 19                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Energy  
Decarbonization  
Division  


• The division is responsible for policies and programs that advance energy 


efficient, low-carbon technologies and practices in the built environment 


through  incentives and standards. This portfolio includes the CleanBC Better 


Homes and Better Buildings Program and the Energy Efficiency Standards 


Regulation. 


• The division develops policy and program initiatives to decarbonize 


community energy systems through the implementation of clean energy 


projects in communities across British Columbia, including grid-connected 


local governments, Indigenous communities, and non-grid connected 


remote communities. This portfolio includes the CleanBC Remote 


Community Energy Strategy. 


• The division is responsible for developing and implementing legislation, 


policies, and programs to decarbonize the transportation sector and spur 


growth in the clean transportation industry in B.C. This portfolio includes the 


Zero Emission Vehicles (ZEV) Act, the ZEV Regulation, and the CleanBC Go 


Electric Program. 


• The division is responsible for the implementation of BC’s Low Carbon Fuel 


Standard that requires fuel suppliers to reduce the carbon intensity of their 


fuels used in transportation and other applicable purposes. With a 30 


percent reduction in carbon intensity for diesel and gasoline class fuels by 


2030, and a 10 percent reduction by 2030 for jet fuels.  


Responsible Mining 
and Competitiveness 
Division  


• Responsible for managing authorizations, geoscience and policy for the 


mining cycle from early mineral exploration, development of major and 


regional mines, and mine closure and reclamation.  


• Supports the competitiveness of B.C.'s mining sector, including critical 


minerals and helps position B.C. as an attractive jurisdiction for investment 


by providing a fair, effective, and transparent authorizations, and focusing on 


regulatory certainty, Indigenous reconciliation and partnerships, world-class 


geoscience, innovation, and leading environmental standards.  


MINISTRY OF ENERGY, MINES, AND LOW CARBON INNOVATION 
CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 20                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Mines Health, Safety 
and Enforcement 
Division  


• The division is responsible for mine workers’ health and safety, compliance 


verification and enforcement, and investigations of serious incidents at 


mines. The division:  


 Oversees the regulation of abandoned mines. 


 Manages the ongoing review and revision of the Health, Safety and 


Reclamation Code for Mines in B.C. 


 Oversees policy Indigenous engagement, inspector training, and 


compliance data and reporting in its core business areas.  


 The division includes the Chief Auditor, responsible for conducting 


audits evaluating effectiveness of B.C.’s mining regulatory framework.  


Strategic and 
Indigenous 
Partnerships Division 


• Supports delivery of the Ministry of Energy, Mines and Low Carbon 


Innovation (EMLI) and EMLI’s Divisions on its energy, mining and natural 


gas mandates. 


• Leads strategic initiatives and supports EMLI’s  mandate to  advance 


reconciliation with Indigenous Nations including  the negotiation of 


revenue sharing and Accommodation Agreements and Reconciliation 


Agreements and engaging with Indigenous Nations on  policy matters. This 


work is consistent with Government’s objectives under the Declaration on 


the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act and ensures that First Nations actively 


participate in natural resource development in their Traditional Territories.  


• Provides corporate oversight and coordination of policies, land use 


planning, intergovernmental relations, Cabinet and legislative coordination, 


employee recognition and engagement, EMLI communications, service plan 


development, and reporting requirements  to ensure that EMLI takes a 


strategic approach to the delivery of its programs and services. Examples 


include Energy and Mines Ministers’ Conference, Council of the Federation, 


and federal/provincial forums. The Strategic Initiatives Branch (SIB) also 


supports energy and climate policy relating to CleanBC.  


MINISTRY OF ENERGY, MINES, AND LOW CARBON INNOVATION 
CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 21                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Conservation and 
Recreation 


• BC Parks is a land management, regulatory and recreation service provision 


program that is responsible for the acquisition, designation, administration, 


planning, management and regulation of natural resources and activities 


occurring on over 14 percent of the provincial land base. British Columbia 


has the highest percentage of its land base dedicated to protected areas of 


all provincial Canadian jurisdictions. There are 1,036 provincial parks, 


recreation areas, conservancies, ecological reserves, and protected areas 


within the system. 


• The Conservation Officer Service (COS) provides public safety and 


environmental enforcement services to British Columbians. The agency’s 


core mandates include natural resource law enforcement and human-


wildlife conflicts prevention and response. The COS is the lead agency in B.C. 


to respond to problem wildlife, including predator attacks on people that 


cause serious injury and death. 


• Recreation Sites and Trails B.C. (RSTBC) provides public recreation 


opportunities by developing, maintaining, and managing a network of 


recreation sites and recreation trails throughout the province. 


Climate Action 
Secretariat 


• Province-wide coordination and management of systems to address and 


respond to climate change including: CleanBC, CleanBC Roadmap to 2030, 


Local Government Climate Action Program (LGCAP), CleanBC Communities 


Fund, Industrial carbon pricing and climate programs (CleanBC Industry 


Fund, CleanBC Industrial Incentive Program, B.C. Output Based Pricing 


System for Industry), B.C. Offset Program, Climate Preparedness and 


Adaptation Strategy, Carbon Neutral Government (Public Sector Organizations 


– schools, universities and colleges, and hospitals), Climate Solutions Council, 


GHG Provincial Inventory, including the community energy and GHG 


emissions Inventory. Climate action pieces of legislation related to climate 


change including Greenhouse Gas Industrial Reporting and Control Act, 


Climate Change Accountability Act, Renewable and Low Carbon Fuel 


Requirements Act, Vehicle Emissions Standards Act, Clean Energy Act,    


Greenhouse Gas Reduction - Emissions Standards, and Carbon Tax.  


MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 22                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Environmental 
Assessment Office 


• The Environmental Assessment Office (EAO) is a neutral regulatory agency 


that reviews proposed major projects such as mines, oil and gas facilities, 


and large infrastructure projects. 


• Under the legal framework of the 2018 Environmental Assessment Act (the 


Act), the EAO implements a process to ensure that any environmental, 


economic, social, cultural and health effects that may occur during the 


lifetime of a project are thoroughly assessed. 


• The EAO coordinates its work with federal and provincial agencies, local 


governments, and First Nations, and engages the public throughout the 


environmental assessment process, to inform provincial Ministers’ decision 


whether projects should be approved to proceed. 


• The EAO also has a reconciliation purpose under the Act, and accordingly 


works jointly with B.C. First Nations to assess a proposed project’s impact on 


Nations and their rights. 


• If a project is approved to proceed, the EAO monitors and enforces 


compliance with its requirements to ensure that projects are designed, built, 


operated, decommissioned, and reclaimed in compliance with the conditions 


of their approval.  


MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 
CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 23                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Environmental  
Protection Division 


• Air quality, reducing toxins, pollution prevention, environmental 


emergencies/ provincial spill response, Environmental Management Act, 


contaminated site remediation, brownfields, hazardous and industrial waste, 


Integrated Pest Management Act, extended producer responsibility, 


recycling, CleanBC Plastics Action Plan, organics infrastructure funding 


programs, Clean Coast Clean Waters fund, Plastic Action Fund, Community 


Woodsmoke Reduction Program, Public Interest Bonding Strategy, circular 


economy, local government waste management planning, waste 


management (incineration, landfilling, municipal liquid and solid waste), 


permitting and compliance reporting for industrial operations’ emissions; 


environmental impact assessment for waste discharge authorizations, 


provincial environmental monitoring networks (air and water quality, 


hydrometric, snow survey, groundwater, climate), environmental databases, 


State of Environment reporting, air and water quality stewardship & 


partnerships;  analytical chemistry laboratory services, provincial laboratory 


quality assurance and standards; Indigenous relations and partnership 


development related to environmental quality and monitoring; Compliance 


and enforcement for industrial, commercial activities and sectors regulated 


under the Environmental Management Act regarding discharges to the 


environment, and under the Integrated Pest Management Act as it relates to 


pesticide use.  


Strategic Services • Coordination of cross-ministry policy initiatives and corporate support for 


policy development, legislation, and inter-governmental relations; business 


improvement and corporate reporting; ministry-wide integration and 


delivery of digital and service transformation opportunities; advice and 


recommendations on cross-cutting Indigenous initiatives, Indigenous 


relationship practices evaluation, strategies, and guiding principles 


development for partnerships with First Nations.  


MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 
CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 24                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Crown Agencies  
Secretariat 


• Leadership and support for board appointments and development for Public 


Sector Organizations; and for the annual performance management and 


reporting cycle for ministries and crown agencies. 


• Strategic oversight and support to specific Crowns, agencies, or organizations, 


including: 


 The BC Lottery Corporation (BCLC), including BCLC’s oversight of 


casinos and community gaming facilities. 


 The Liquor Distribution Branch (LDB) sales and policy, including BC 


Liquor Stores and BC Cannabis Stores. 


 Insurance Corporation of BC (ICBC) provides direct support to the 


Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General. 


 


**For Minister meeting requests for the Liquor Distribution Branch or the 


Insurance Corporation of BC please direct these to the Ministry of Public Safety 


and Solicitor General.  


 


**For staff meeting requests for the Liquor Distribution Branch please direct 


these to the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General. 


 


**For staff meeting requests for the Insurance Corporation of BC please see 


their description in the Provincial Agencies, Commissions, and Corporations 


section.  


Policy and Legislation  
Division / Financial 
And Corporate Sector  
Policy Branch 


• Anti-money laundering in real estate and the financial sector, including 


beneficial ownership transparency initiatives. 


• Corporate and financial sector policy including: 


 Securities. 


 Real Estate (including mortgage brokers and real estate developers). 


 Financial institutions. 


 Money Services Businesses. 


 Insurance. 


 Pensions. 


 Personal Property Security. 


 Business Organizations (including companies, societies, and 


cooperatives. 


 Land Title & Survey Authority (LTSA). 


MINISTRY OF FINANCE 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 25                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Policy and Legislation 
Division /  
Intergovernmental  
Fiscal Relations 


• Federal-provincial fiscal relations (e.g., intergovernmental transfers). 


• Joint federal-provincial social policy priorities (e.g., income security and 


pensions). 


• Cannabis revenue sharing, with Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation. 


• Local government fiscal relations with Municipal Affairs. 


• First Nations fiscal relations, with Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation.  


Policy and Legislation  
Division / Property  
Tax and Assessment  
Policy 


• Property tax and assessment policy including: 


 Provincial property assessment policy, legislation, and methodology. 


 Oversight of BC Assessment (BCA) and the Property Assessment Review 


panels. 


 Provincial property taxes (school, rural, police). 


 Property Transfer Tax. 


 Speculation and Vacancy Tax. 


Policy and Legislation 
Division / Tax Policy  
Branch 


• Provincial tax policy, including: 


 Provincial Sales Tax. 


 Municipal and Regional District Tax. 


 Carbon Tax. 


 Motor Fuel Tax. 


 Provincial Income Tax. 


 Indigenous Taxation. 


 Employer Health Tax. 


 Flipping Tax. 


Gender Equity Office  • Pay Transparency Reporting. 


• Gender-Based Analysis Plus (GBA+). 


MINISTRY OF FINANCE CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 26                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Associate Deputy 
Minister’s Office 


• Permitting Process Improvements and Performance Measures. 


• Emerging Strategic Projects: Wosk Centre for Dialogue Series on Wildfire 


Mitigation, Premier’s Expert Task Force Engagement. 


• Forestry Digital Services Program. 


• Supports the province’s goal of reconciliation with Indigenous peoples 


through the implementation of the UN Declaration on the Rights of  


Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP) and the Declaration Act Action Plan. 


• First Nations Reconciliation & Negotiations Strategy, New Fiscal Framework 


and Revenue Sharing, First Nations Forest Tenure, First Nations Forestry   


Council Engagement and Consultation Systems and Information 


Management.  


BC Wildfire Service • Wildfire Suppression, Wildfire Prevention and Community Resiliency    


Initiative. 


• Wildfire Recovery and All Hazard Response.  


Forest Resiliency and 
Archaeology 


• Old growth deferrals. 


• Provincial Forest Landscape Planning. 


• Archaeology Branch. 


• The Heritage Conservation Act Transformation Project (HCATP).  


Integrated Resource 
Operations Division 


• Compliance and Enforcement. 


• Engineering.  


• Forest Tenures. 


• Resource Worker Safety.  


Office of the Chief 
Forester 


• Provides provincial leadership for forest management and stewardship. 


• Continuous improvement of forest management policies, legislation and 


practices. 


• Acquisition and update of forest inventory, spatial analysis and reporting of 


timber and non-timber values. 


• Allowable annual cut determination and silviculture. 


• Forest genetic resource management, seed supply and forest health. 


• Land-based research, climate change and carbon management. 


• Integrated planning, developing the bio economy and strategic old growth 


support.  


MINISTRY OF FORESTS 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 27                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Regional Operations • Activities that occur within regional operations include: forestry, range 


tenure management and authorizations and indigenous consultation. 


• Operation of regional and District offices that support providing client access 


to natural resource authorizations (in partnership with the Ministry of 


Water, Land and Resource Stewardship (WLRS) and Front Counter BC) 


geographic information and, forest revenue management.  


• Emergency Management and Climate Readiness and BC Wildfire Service 


support, wildfire risk reduction, wildfire rehabilitation and recovery, 


resource stewardship (resource value monitoring and assessment). 


• BC Timber Sales regional timber sales, investment and reporting on forest 


management to the Office of the Chief Forester and timber sales reviews for 


regions. 


• Strategic initiatives and forest landscape planning, silviculture project 


delivery, and resource roads and infrastructure including access and land 


management issues.  


Timber, Range and 
Economics 


• Forest sector economics and transformation. 


• Trade and Log Export Policy. 


• Softwood lumber. 


• Timber pricing, timber measurements and stumpage. 


• Value added forestry, range policy and planning. 


• Invasive plants. 


• Modernizing forest policy. 


• BC Timber Sales provincial operations. 


• Fibre supply and access. 


• Pulp and paper and utilization policy. 


• Wildfire salvage.  


MINISTRY OF FORESTS CONTINUED... 
 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 28                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Finance and 
Corporate Services  


• Supports programs and health authorities by managing and ensuring a      


consistent approach to financial and corporate services planning, policy, 


performance oversight/reporting, and critical financial and corporate 


services issues management. 


• Services provided include, Health Authority Regional Grants Decision Support, 


Finance and Decision Support, Capital Services Management, and Audit and 


Investigations.  


Health Sector  


Workforce and  


Beneficiary Services  


• Responsible for operational delivery of beneficiary and diagnostic services 


and workforce strategies that contribute to effectively meeting patient and 


population health needs and improving patient outcomes through the 


efficient delivery of health services.  


Hospital and Provincial 
Health Services  


• Focuses on implementing specialized community and surgical services and 


programs, provincial health service, and regional hospital-based services, 


and provides provincial oversight of Medical Assistance in Dying (MAID). 


• Works towards service transformation across the acute and provincial health 


sector and streamlines bilateral efforts between the ministry and health   


authorities by bringing together key mandated initiatives. 


• Works on continuing to implement the Surgical Renewal Commitment to 


address and improve patient access and wait times for surgical and       


diagnostic imaging services while also increasing surgical and diagnostic 


capacity in the province.  


Office of Indigenous 
Health  


• Works in partnership with B.C. First Nations, Métis and urban Indigenous 


partners, regional health authorities, across provincial ministries, and with 


Indigenous Services Canada to ensure the implementation of key strategic 


priorities and commitments regarding Indigenous health and wellness. 


• Key focus: Using the Recommendations of the In Plain Sight report as a     


blueprint for action to address Indigenous-specific racism and discrimination 


across the B.C. health care system.  


MINISTRY OF HEALTH 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 29                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Population and Public 
Health  


• Focuses on improving the overall health and well-being of the population by 


promoting good health and wellness, preventing disease, injury, and illness, 


and protecting people from harm.  


Primary Care  • Responsible for primary care policy direction, strategy development         


implementation, results monitoring, quality improvement and evaluation 


oversight. The current priorities of the division are: Increasing attachment 


and access through Primary care networks; Urgent and primary care centres; 


Community health centres; First Nations Led Primary Care Initiatives,         


Interdisciplinary team based primary care services both in person and 


virtual; integration of primary care services with specialized community 


services programs. 


• The division also includes HealthLink BC due to its role as a key community 


services enabler of primary care.  


Seniors Services  • Responsibility for Home Health, Long-Term care and Assisted Living policy 


development and implementation. 


• Ministry policy and actions related to the Assisted Living Registry operations 


and oversight.  


MINISTRY OF HEALTH CONTINUED... 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 30                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Governance and 
Accountability Branch  


• Governance and oversight for BC Housing as well as BC Housing performance 


monitoring/reporting. Responsible for developing strong partnerships to 


support the work of BC Housing. 


• Ministry’s overall approach to engagement, consultation, and partnership 


with Indigenous Peoples; supports alignment between provincial housing 


initiatives and the province’s commitments to reconciliation; advises on 


housing-related topics of mutual interest to Indigenous Peoples and local 


governments. 


 


BC Housing: 


• BC Housing is responsible for implementation of Building BC programs that 


are helping government deliver on its goal to deliver 114,000 units of 


affordable housing including the following programs: Supportive Housing 


Fund, Women’s Transition Housing Fund, Community Housing Fund, 


Indigenous Housing Fund, Rapid Response to Homelessness, Deepening 


Affordability program. It is also responsible for BC Builds and HousingHub 


which works with communities, governments, non-profit and private sector 


stakeholders to facilitate the creation of new affordable rental housing.  


Housing Innovations 
Division  


• Supports innovations in the approvals and construction of housing. 


 Digital Permitting. 


 Prefabricated housing and panels. 


 Standardized housing designs. 


• Development of ongoing programs and tools design to support BC Builds. 


• Housing development partnerships. 


• Process development with other governments (First Nation and federal) and 


provincial ministries and agencies to identify land for housing. 


Housing Policy Branch  • Housing policy and program development, including market and non- 


market housing, legislation governing strata properties, coordination of the 


provincial housing strategy, legislation regulating short-term rentals, 


purpose built rental housing, long-term leaseholds, and secondary suites 


incentive program.  


MINISTRY OF HOUSING 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 31                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF HOUSING CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Building and Safety 
Standards Branch  


• Buildings, Construction, and Technical Systems: The regulatory framework 


for buildings and technical systems, including development of building, 


plumbing, fire, electrical, gas, elevator, and energy codes, safety standards 


for technical systems, homeowner protection (e.g., home warranties), 


oversight of certain industry professionals and trades (e.g., home builder 


licensing and mandatory building official qualifications), and policy advice 


relating to the built environment, including climate leadership and 


accessibility for new buildings. 


• Liaison with BC Housing Licensing and Consumer Services, Technical Safety 


BC, Building Officials Association of BC, National Research Council and 


Accessibility Standards Canada. 


• Technical requirements for existing buildings related to CleanBC, climate 


adaptation, and disaster mitigation (e.g., earthquakes, flooding, and wild- 


fires). 


• Nationally harmonized technical requirements for new buildings.  


Short-Term Rental 


Branch  


• Compliance and enforcement of short-term rental legislation and 


regulations, local government short-term rental data sharing, and delisting 


requests. 


Housing Targets 
Branch  


• Administers the housing targets program to issue targets for specified 


municipalities under the authorities set out in the Housing Supply Act and 


regulations. 


• Analysis to select specified municipalities for targets assessment, forecast 


housing needs and produce housing targets. 


• Consultation with specified municipalities and first nations with land 


interests, issues timebound Housing Target Orders and evaluates progress 


reports that track progress toward meeting housing targets: 1) housing units 


by type, tenure, and affordability; and 2) municipal processes to increase 


housing supply (housing policies, bylaws, development approvals and 


permitting. 


• Consideration of compliance measures if satisfactory progress has not been 


made by municipalities to meet housing targets.  


Planning and Land Use 
Management Branch  


• Land use planning policy and program development. 


• Legislation and program supports for:  


 Small-scale, multi-unit housing. 


 Housing needs reports. 


 Proactive zoning.  


 Amenity cost charges.  


 Inclusionary zoning.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 32                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF HOUSING CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Residential Tenancy 
Branch  


• Oversight of the Residential Tenancy Act and Manufactured Home Park 


Tenancy Act, the regulatory framework for landlords and tenants, including 


conventional residential and manufactured home park tenancies. 


• Information services, disputes resolution, and compliance & enforcement for 


landlord and tenant disputes.  


Strategic Results 


Management Branch  


• Project leadership, planning and support.  


• Oversight on housing and homelessness strategy implementation, 


monitoring, and reporting. 


• Intergovernmental relations on housing and homelessness.  


Engagement and 
Encampment  
Response 
Branch  


• Provincial coordination lead for cross-ministry encampment responses 


including HEART/HEARTH programs and the Provincial Encampment 


Response Framework. 


• Oversight of the province’s Homelessness Plan, Belonging in BC (BiBC). 


• Engagement to inform the implementation and development of future 


phases of BiBC, including the Indigenous Advisory Committee and People 


with Lived Experience Advisory Committee.  


• Provincial coordination and development of a more collaborative approach 


to addressing homelessness with federal and local governments, provincial 


agencies, Indigenous and community partners. 


• Provincial shelter policy.  


• Support for the Downtown Eastside – Provincial Partnership Plan.  


Homelessness and 
Supportive Housing 
Policy Branch  


• Research and policy development related to homelessness, supportive 


housing and rent supplements.  


• Development and implementation of several initiatives within the Belonging 


in BC Homelessness Plan, including: 


 Integrated Support Framework to coordinate and streamline access 


to supports. 


 Supportive Rent Supplement Program. 


 Point in Time Homelessness Count. 


 Preventing and Reducing Homelessness Integrated Data Project. 


• Research and policy development related to rental assistance, including: 


 Rental Assistance Program. 


 Shelter Aid for Elderly Renters Program. 


 Canada-BC Housing Benefit. 


 Homeless Prevention Program. 


 BC Rent Bank. 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 33                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF INDIGENOUS RELATIONS AND RECONCILIATION  


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Negotiations and 
Regional Operations 
Division  


• Leads provincial engagement with First Nations to advance reconciliation 


initiatives, including negotiating and implementing agreements with First 


Nations partners in conjunction with other provincial agencies, federal and 


local government, and working with stakeholders to ensure the success of 


reconciliation initiatives. 


• Leads and collaborates with other Ministries to advance shared decision- 


making initiatives with First Nations, consistent with sections 6 and 7 of the 


Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act.  


Reconciliation  
Transformation and 
Strategies Division  


• Leads provincial development and implementation of strategic reconciliation 


initiatives, such as the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act. 


Facilitates collaboration and partnership between Indigenous and non- 


Indigenous peoples, stakeholders, and all levels of government to build 


capacity and support outcomes that advance reconciliation at the local, 


regional, and provincial levels.  


Strategic  


Partnerships and 


Initiatives Division  


• Leads and supports the development and implementation of key strategies to 


strengthen the socio-economic conditions of Indigenous people in B.C. 


• Leads B.C.’s efforts in socio-cultural reconciliation with Indigenous 


communities and the development of provincial strategies for improving 


outcomes for Métis and urban Indigenous populations. Leads community 


engagement and the coordination of the provincial response to residential 


school sites in B.C. 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 34                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF JOBS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Small Business and 
Economic  
Development Division 


• Development and delivery of policies, initiatives and funding programs to 


support inclusive economic development and diversification in rural, 


regional, and Indigenous communities.  


• Provide direct assistance to rural communities in developing economic 


strategies, accessing funding, and implementing projects such as business 


retention and expansion, investment readiness, and sector development. 


This includes support to the community after an economic shock (such as 


mill or mine closures) or an environmental disaster.  


• Economic analysis and policy development; Better Regulations for British 


Columbians; and StrongerBC Young Leaders Council. 


• Small business programs, resources, and available supports including Mobile 


Business Licenses and BizPaL. 


• Manages the provincial legislation and relationships with the northern, 


southern interior, and island-coastal economic trusts.  


• Funding programs include: Securing Small Business Rebate Program, BC 


Manufacturing Jobs Fund (MJF) and Forest Worker and Community Supports 


programs - Rural Diversification and Infrastructure Program (REDIP), Rural 


Business and Community Recovery Initiative (RBCRI), Forest Employment 


Program (FEP). 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 35                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF JOBS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Investment Division  • Responsible for InBC Investment Corporation, a $500 million strategic 


investment fund  that invests in B.C.’s high-growth potential businesses to 


help them scale up. 


• Facilitates investments through the Major Investments Office: 


 Assesses the technical, financial, and strategic scope of investment 


opportunities to determine the appropriate level of ministry        


engagement. 


 Engages with potential investors who have a viable project     


opportunity and provides customized support to enable the 


investment to advance in B.C. 


 Works closely with other Ministries to boost B.C. as a global exporter 


of climate solutions, carbon capture, storage, and other low carbon 


technologies. 


 Leads and/or collaborates on complex cross ministry/government 


activities or strategic initiatives. 


 Develops partnerships with investors to match project financing needs 


with strategic sources of capital. 


 Leads the ministry’s investment evaluation process. 


• Develops and implements the Province’s Life Sciences and Biomanufacturing 


Strategy to position B.C. as a hub for the biotechnology sector: 


 Conducts life sciences policy analysis.  


 Develops and maintains sector intelligence resources on B.C.’s life 


sciences sector, including through engagement with sector 


stakeholders and in collaboration with BC Stats.  


Trade and Industry 
Development Division 


• Facilitates trade promotion, investment attraction, industry development, 


and supports initiatives to increase export capacity in all regions of the 


province. 


• Works collaboratively with key stakeholders, industry, and all levels of 


government to build an inclusive, sustainable, and innovative economy.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 36                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF JOBS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Trade and Industry 
Development Division 
Continued... 


• Facilitates trade promotion, investment attraction, industry development, 


and supports initiatives to increase export capacity in all regions of the 


province. 


• Works collaboratively with key stakeholders, industry, and all levels of 


government to build an inclusive, sustainable, and innovative economy.  


• Establishes and delivers integrated trade, investment, and industry 


development programs to help B.C. increase exports, solidify international 


alliances, attract foreign direct investment, and eliminate protectionist 


measures, including: 


 Develops and delivers events and outreach to support awareness and 


networking for B.C. businesses in B.C. and abroad. 


 Delivers and coordinates export  readiness and export services 


programs serving communities across the province including 


indigenous communities and helping develop prosperous exporting 


companies positively impacting these communities. 


 Supports the delivery of the Export Navigator Program and Trade 


Accelerator Program. 


 Delivery of the Agritech Concierge Program. 


 Delivers the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Centre of 


Excellence (COE) to support trade, investment and economic 


development in the province through championing ESG.  


 Develop and deliver initiatives to attract and retain international 


investors and businesses, including support for site selection, aligning 


efforts with municipal and federal partners to optimize the best 


investment opportunities for B.C. 


 Advance and defend B.C. interests in international and domestic trade 


negotiations, agreements, and disputes. 


• Monitor, analyze, and communicate trends in investment, exports, and 


policy, connecting to the B.C. industry development context, and providing 


the evidence base for sound strategy development and decision making. 


 Implement  the Trade Diversification Strategy. 


 Develop policy and identify, develop, and implement industrial and 


manufacturing programs and resources such as the Manufacturing 


Action Plan, the BC Maritime Industries Strategy and the Agritech 


Concierge Program. 


 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 37                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF JOBS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Trade and Industry 
Development Division 
Continued... 


• Advance the Mass Timber Action Plan. Expanding the use of mass timber in 


building construction which will assist our forestry sector transition to      


high-value over high-volume production and create opportunities for local 


workers, strong partnerships with First Nations and greater economic 


opportunity while making a significant contribution to advancing CleanBC.  


Sustainable Economy 
Division  


• Development and coordination of the province’s StrongerBC economic plan 


and associated programming.  


• Develop and deliver policy and programming for B.C.’s technology and 


innovation sectors, including responsibility for Innovate BC and emerging 


technology sectors like artificial intelligence and quantum computing. 


• Advance the Province’s Intellectual Property Strategy to build the province’s 


intellectual property capacity by increasing the awareness, use and 


protection of intellectual property by small and medium-sized enterprises. 


• Leads the Province’s participation in the Digital Supercluster and Quantum 


Algorithms Institute. 


• Operation of the Small Business Venture Capital Tax Credit Program for 


individuals that invest in shares of a registered venture capital corporation or 


eligible business corporation. The small business venture capital tax credit 


encourages investors to make equity capital investments in B.C. small 


businesses to help them develop and grow by providing a 30% tax credit to 


offset some of the risk of investing in BC’s start-up and early-stage 


businesses, primarily those developing technologies and in small business 


manufacturing. 


• Develop and support the Integrated Marketplace (IM) initiative to increase 


innovation and technology adoption by linking industry with local innovation 


suppliers to implement, scale, and ultimately export B.C. tech solutions. The 


initiative is helping industry address its business needs while helping reduce 


carbon emissions, increase productivity and resiliency, or increase safety 


with domestic innovative solutions. The Province’s Crown agency, Innovate 


BC, helps deliver the program. 


• Oversight of the BC Knowledge Development Fund (BCKDF) that supports  the 


development of research infrastructure, like labs and equipment. The BCKDF 


helps B.C.'s institutions attract researchers, skilled technicians, and research 


users. Supporting research infrastructure can foster innovation and help 


institutions collaborate with industry.   







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 38                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF LABOUR 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Employment Standards  • Administration of the Employment Standards Act to ensure employees      


receive basic standards of compensation and conditions of employment, 


including the minimum wage. Provide fair and efficient procedures for 


resolving employment standards disputes between employees and 


employers. Responsible for the Employment Standards Branch and the 


Employment Standards Tribunal. Responsible for enforcement of the 


Temporary Foreign Worker Protection Act.  


 


Bridging to Retirement 
Program (Forest  
Worker Supports)  


• Delivery of the Bridging to Retirement program which supports forestry 


workers, contractors and their employees impacted by Old Growth deferrals 


who are 55+ to transition to retirement in their communities and also 


enables workers in working forestry operations to voluntarily retire, with 


employer participation.  


Labour Relations  • Administration of the Labour Relations Code through the independent     


quasi-judicial B.C. Labour Relations Board. The ministry also promotes stable          


labour relations by monitoring collective bargaining disputes and providing 


formal and informal assistance to the parties. Also, responsible for the Fire 


and Police Services Collective Bargaining Act and the Fire Department Act.  


Workers’  
Compensation  


• Administration of the Workers Compensation Act through WorkSafeBC 


(provincial Workers’ Compensation Board). WorkSafeBC provides                   


compensation services, health care and vocational rehabilitation to injured 


workers. WorkSafeBC also has authority to develop, enact and enforce the 


Occupational Health and Safety Regulation. The ministry is also responsible 


for the Employers’ Advisers Office, the Workers’ Advisers Office, and the 


Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 39                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF MENTAL HEALTH AND ADDICTIONS 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Child, Youth and 
Mental Health Policy 
Division 


• Setting strategic direction and leading initiatives related to child and youth 


mental health and substance use, including the expansion of Foundry Youth 


Centres, Foundry Virtual, developing a youth substance use system of care, 


including youth substance treatment beds and services, and implementing 


integrated child and youth teams. 


• Supporting Indigenous-led solutions for mental health and substance use 


needs through Indigenous partnerships and advancing broader            


commitments to Indigenous reconciliation, land-based healing initiatives, and 


First Nations-run treatment centres. 


• Leading mental health initiatives such as the expansion of affordable           


community counselling. 


• Developing programs to serve people with complex mental health and        


substance use needs, including implementation of complex care housing. 


• Lead for community-based mental health crisis response services including 


Peer Assisted Care Teams (PACT)  Mobile Integrated Crisis Response teams, 


also known as Car programs, and provincial crisis line services. 


Corporate Services 
Division 


• Lead for public information, social marketing, and anti-stigma campaigns for 


substance use in the province. 


• Lead for sector-wide mental health and substance use strategy, planning and 


progress reporting, including A Pathway to Hope: A roadmap for making 


mental health and addictions care better for people in British Columbia.  


Substance Use Policy 
Division 


• Lead for substance use policy, system integration and innovation, including 


the overdose public health emergency. This includes the full continuum of 


substance use services and supports. 


• Lead for the toxic drug crisis, including the Overdose Emergency Response 


• Centre (OERC), overdose prevention services, prescribed safer supply, opioid 


agonist treatment, drug checking and peer/community engagement in the 


public health emergency.  


Treatment and  
Recovery Division  


• Lead for adult substance use treatment and recovery – this includes         


withdrawal management through to longer-term aftercare, including both      


outpatient and bed-based services. 


• Lead for decriminalization of illicit drugs for personal possession in B.C. 


• Leads and/or supports initiatives and provides strategic advice on workplace 


mental health. Works collaboratively with community partners, unions, and 


employer groups to ensure employees and leaders have the tools and       


training they need to foster psychologically healthy and safe workplaces.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 40                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS 
 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Immigration Services and Strategic Planning Division 


Community Gaming 


Grants 


• Community Gaming Grants supports eligible not-for-profit organizations 


delivering community programs that benefit the citizens of B.C. 


• Grants are awarded in several sectors including Arts and Culture, Sport, 


Public Safety, Environment, Human and Social Services, and Parent Advisory 


Councils.  


Immigration Services • Immigration policy, programs, and services; including Provincial Nominee 


Program (PNP) supporting the attraction of international skilled and semi-


skilled workers and entrepreneurs to all regions. Priority occupations include 


Health, Childcare, and Tech, plus attraction to smaller centres. 


• Settlement and integration services for newcomers.  


Strategic Planning 


and Legislative  


Services Branch 


• The branch provides services and leadership in the areas of legislative 


services, community policy, corporate priorities, and strategic planning 


related to local governments and communities. 


• The branch is responsible for and executes the legislative program and 


coordinates Orders in Council (OIC), Ministerial Orders, and board 


appointments for the ministry.  


Local Government Division 


Governance Structures  


 


Governance Services  


 


Governance Relations  


• Incorporation, restructuring, boundary extensions, structure-related 


legislation and processes, and local and regional governance. 


• Local government administration, elections, governance operations-related 


legislative requirements/powers, and local and regional services. 


• Local government-First Nations/Indigenous relations, Crown Grant/Nominal 


Rent Tenure sponsorships, Business Improvement Areas, and Resort 


Associations. 


• Dispute resolution related to Regional District service reviews/withdrawals 


and other intergovernmental disputes.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 41                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS CONTINUED… 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Local Government Division Continued... 


Infrastructure and 
Engineering 


• Asset management, drinking water, wastewater, stormwater, solid waste, 


green energy, community, recreation, and other capital grants, 


infrastructure planning grants and programs: Investing in Canada 


Infrastructure Program (Environmental Quality; Community, Culture and 


Recreation, Rural and Northern Communities, CleanBC Communities Fund, 


COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure Stream), Community Economic Recovery 


Infrastructure Program, Critical Community Infrastructure, and New Building 


Canada Fund—Small Communities Fund.  


Local Government  
Finance 


• Local government finance, including: 


 Budgeting and financial plans. 


 Audited financial statements. 


 Unconditional grants; Growing Communities Fund; reserve funds. 


 Investments and municipal corporations; long-term liabilities. 


 Development financing (including Development Cost Charges). 


 Property tax, user-fees, and other sources of revenue.  


Local Government 
Policy, Research and 
Legislation  


• Overall responsibility for local government legislation development for the 


Community Charter, Local Government Act, Local Elections Campaign 


Financing Act, Vancouver Charter, and other local government legislation. 


• Broad responsibility for forward-looking policy development in the local 


government sphere including monitoring trends and developments in other 


jurisdictions and reviewing UBCM resolutions. 


• Provide advice and support, both internal to the ministry and to other 


ministries, on the development of Memorandums of Understanding and 


other agreements between the province and local governments or UBCM. 


• Provide advice and support to other ministries in the development of 


legislation or policies that impact local governments.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 42                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS CONTINUED… 
 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Local Government Division Continued... 


Land Use / Planning 
Programs 


• Local government planning, land use management framework, and public 


hearings (in support with the Ministry of Housing), along with other local 


planning and land use tools through the Local Government Act and 


Community Charter.  


• Responsible for supporting topics such as the implementation of regional 


growth strategies, land use bylaw approvals (Islands Trust, Sun Peaks, UBC), 


and collaborating on climate mitigation with the Joint Provincial-UBCM 


Green Communities Committee. 


• Providing cross-ministry support and advice on issues that intersect with 


land use planning. 


• Supporting work on inclusive regional governance. 


• Developing and implementing policies and programs while collaborating 


with local governments, other provincial ministries, and interested parties. 


• Monitoring of socio-economic effects of Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) Canada 


and Coastal GasLink’s LNG projects on local governments and Indigenous 


Nations in Northern B.C. 


• Funding programs: Northern Healthy Communities Fund. 


• Support for all phases of emergency management (preparation, response, 


recovery, mitigation) at both a provincial level and local government level.  


Public Libraries  
Branch (PLB) 


• Working with public library boards, library staff, and local governments, in 


their roles and responsibilities under the Library Act.  


• Helping communities improve and access public library services.  


• Provides advice and guidance on related legislation, governance, financial 


reporting, provincial funding, digital infrastructure, provincial-wide services, 


and provincial policies. 


• Apportionment of provincial public library grants (not capital). 


• Local government questions about financing new library buildings/significant 


renovations, ownership, or infrastructure questions should be directed to Local 


Government Infrastructure and Finance Branch, but PLB may also be 


included.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 43                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION AND FUTURE SKILLS 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Finance, Technology 
And Management 
Services Division  


• Operating and capital grants to 25 PSIs, FTE and PSI financial health 


monitoring and reporting, ministry’s 10-year capital plan, PSI property 


acquisition and disposition, manage ministry budget, maintain ministry IT 


systems and digital information security, Administrative Service Delivery 


Transformation Initiative, lead ministry’s business continuity and emergency 


response readiness with PSIs, and strategic HR for the ministry. 


Governance, 


Legislation and 
Engagement Division  


• Responsible for the ministry’s legislative development, as well as OIC 


board appointments, labour relations and governance, Indigenous 


policy & engagement, Indigenous programs & partnerships, and 


intergovernmental relations and corporate reporting. 


• The division includes the Office of the Superintendent of Professional 


Governance (OSPG) and is also responsible for improving foreign/


international credential recognition. 


Post-Secondary  


Policy and Programs 
Division  


• Twenty-Five public post-secondary institutions (PSIs) and their programs 


including: Indigenous Education, Adult Education, StudentAid BC 


including the BC Access Grant, Science, Technology, Engineering and 


Math (STEM) programs, the Provincial Tuition Waiver for Former Youth 


in Care and the BC Loan Forgiveness Program, tech-relevant programs, 


adult basic education, and health and medical education. Enhancing the 


learner experience through student mental health initiatives, combatting 


sexualized violence, promoting work integrated learning and co-ops, 


micro-credentials and improving foreign/international credential 


recognition, Education Quality Assurance designation, and advice and 


recommendations to the Minister on new degree programs through the 


Degree Quality Assessment Board. 


• The division is responsible for public and private post-secondary institution 


accountability including mandate direction and accountability reporting. 


• Governance, regulation and monitoring of over 300 private training 


institutions, including student protection.  


• Reporting and advice through sector data management and analysis to 


support decision making and inform policy development. 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 44                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION AND FUTURE SKILLS 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Post-Secondary  


Policy and Programs 
Division Continued... 


• BC’s Post-Secondary Digital Learning Strategy and Digital Services Strategy 


which aim to improve how digital technologies support access to flexible, 


high-quality post-secondary education. 


• Division is also responsible for international education, leading strategic 


policy/liaison function for the sector, and providing oversight for the Crown 


corporation - the British Columbia Council for International Education 


(BCCIE).  


Labour Market  
Development Division 


• Responsible for the development and management of targeted labour 


market and workforce development policies and programs to help people 


get the information and skills they need to participate in B.C.’s labour 


market. This includes oversight of B.C.’s StrongerBC Future Ready Action 


Plan, the trades training system, including Skilled Trades Certification and 


the Crown agency responsible, SkilledTradesBC. 


• Responsible for a number of programs for people, employers, and 


communities. These include the Sector Labour Market Partnerships program, 


the Community Workforce Response Grant, the BC Employer Training Grant, 


Skills Training for Employment programs,  and skills training for forestry 


dependent communities. 


• The division produces a wide range of labour market information and 


insights, including BC’s Labour Market Outlook, and disseminates labour 


market information, career planning tools, and other resources through the 


WorkBC.ca website.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 45                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


BC Coroners Service • Responsible for investigating and determining the circumstances of all 


unnatural, sudden, and unexpected, unexplained, or unattended deaths in 


the province. 


• Makes recommendations to improve public safety and prevent death in 


similar circumstances. 


• Responsible for the investigation of all child death (under the age of 19 


years) in B.C. and for investigating all deaths in custody.  


BC Corrections • Responsible for the supervision of individuals, 18 years or older, on bail or 


serving a sentence in the community, and the supervision of individuals in 


custody awaiting trial, serving a sentence under two years. 


Cannabis, Consumer 
Protection, and 
Corporate Policy 
Branch 


• Responsible for consumer protection policy, which includes consumer 


contracts, cost of credit disclosure, ticket sales, film classification, and 


licensing of travel agents, motor dealers, funeral services, payday lenders, 


high-cost credit grantors, debt collectors, and home inspectors. 


• Responsible for leading and supporting the development and 


implementation of provincial cannabis policy, leading negotiation of 


government-to-government agreements with Indigenous nations pursuant 


to Section 119 of the Cannabis Control and Licensing Act and working with 


First Nations and key partners to advance a collaborative approach to 


cannabis-related governance and jurisdiction, as outlined in the DRIPA 


Action Plan commitment 4.47.  


• Responsible for the development of policy and legislation related to the 


Restricting Public Consumption of Illegal Substances Act.     


Community Safety  
and Victim Services 
Branch 


• Responsible for coordinating a provincial network of programs and services 


for victims of crime including programming for violence against women, 


gender-based violence, and sexual assault. 


• Responsible for coordinating the province’s work in the areas of restorative 


justice, and human trafficking. 


• Includes the Civil Forfeiture Office which manages the Civil Forfeiture Crime 


Prevention and Remediation Grant Program and the Crime Victim Assistance 


Program.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 46                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Gaming Policy and  
Enforcement Branch 


• Regulates all gambling in British Columbia and ensures the integrity of 


gambling industry companies, people, and equipment. 


• Regulates oversight of commercial gambling conducted and managed by the 


British Columbia Lottery Corporation (e.g., lotteries, casinos, community 


gaming centres, commercial bingo halls and online gambling on 


PlayNow.com), British Columbia’s horse racing industry, and licensed 


charitable gambling events. 


• Administers the Gambling Support BC program, which includes a continuum 


of responsible and problem gambling prevention and treatment services. 


• Administers Host Financial Assistance Agreements with local governments 


that host a gaming facility within their jurisdiction.  


Insurance Corporation 
of BC (ICBC) 


• ICBC is mandated to provide universal compulsory auto insurance to drivers 


in B.C. 


• ICBC provides British Columbians with Optional auto insurance products and 


driver licensing services. 


• ICBC champions a safe driving culture by working with communities, law 


enforcement, and other stakeholders on various road safety campaigns and 


initiatives. 


• ICBC is responsible to the Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General, 


who is supported within government by the Crown Agencies Secretariat in 


the Ministry of Finance. 


 


**For Minister meeting requests for the Insurance Corporation of BC please 


direct these to the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General. 


 


**For staff meeting requests for the Insurance Corporation of BC please see 


their description in the Provincial Agencies, Commissions, and Corporations 


section.  


Liquor and Cannabis 
Regulation Branch 


• Issues liquor and cannabis retail store licenses. 


• Educates establishments about cannabis laws and rules. 


• Takes enforcement action when licensed establishments do not follow the 


Cannabis Control and Licensing Act and the Liquor Control and Licensing Act, 


associated regulations or their specific terms and conditions. 


• Delivers social responsibility training programs including Selling It Right and 


Serving It Right. 


 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 47                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Liquor and Cannabis 
Regulation Branch 
Continued... 


• Works with local government, Indigenous nations, and industry and other 


stakeholders to develop liquor and retail cannabis policy and provide advice 


to government concerning decisions related to liquor and non-medical 


cannabis policy.  


Liquor Distribution  
Branch 


• The Liquor Distribution Branch is responsible to the Minister of Public Safety 


and Solicitor General, who is supported within the government by the Crown 


Agencies Secretariat in the Ministry of Finance. 


 


**For Minister meeting requests and for staff meeting requests for the Liquor 


Distribution Branch please direct these to the Ministry of Public Safety and 


Solicitor General.  


  


Office of the Fire 
Commissioner 


• The Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC) is the senior fire authority in the 


province with respect to fire safety and prevention. 


• Services include administration and enforcement of fire safety legislation, 


provision of training and appointment of local assistants to the fire 


commissioner, provision of firefighter medals and awards, fire loss statistics 


collection, fire investigation, fire inspection, response to major fire 


emergencies such as the Provincial fire department, guidance to local 


governments on delivery of fire protection services, public fire prevention 


and safety education, and structure firefighter training standards. 


• The OFC works with the BC Wildfire Service, which helps to protect 


communities and other critical infrastructure during wildland urban 


interface fires. 


RoadSafetyBC • RoadSafetyBC is responsible for road safety in the province, working with 


our partners to help reach our goal of zero traffic fatalities and serious 


injuries. 


• The branch operates provincial road safety programs and is the policy and 


regulatory agency responsible for ensuring the safe and responsible 


operation of motor vehicles in B.C. 


 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 48                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


RoadSafetyBC 
Continued... 


• The Superintendent of Motor Vehicles is the administrative authority 


governing drivers and has authority to: 


 Prohibit a person from driving a motor vehicle. 


 Require a driver to take part in a program to improve their driving. 


 Review and make decisions about sanctions, driving prohibitions and 


ICBC licensing decisions. 


 Make sure B.C. drivers are medically fit to drive.  


Policing and Security  
Branch 


• The branch superintends and provides central oversight of B.C. policing and 


law enforcement by developing and administering policing policy, programs, 


and provincial standards. The branch ensures the adequate and effective 


delivery of policing throughout the province. 


• Security Programs Division administers the Criminal Record Review Program, 


Protection Order Registry, security screening for cannabis workers and retail 


applicants, and regulates the security industry, metal dealers and recyclers, 


pill presses, and armored vehicles / body armor. 


• The Policy, Legislation and Modernization Division develops and coordinates 


policies and legislative initiatives, and is the lead on diversity, mental health, 


and addiction issues in relation to policing. This Division is also the lead for 


policing modernization and coordinating responses to the report of the 


Special Committee on Reforming the Police Act. 


• Municipal Policing, Governance and Oversight Division is responsible for 


superintending, oversight and alignment of municipal police and their 


boards. The division also has responsibility for areas including provincial 


policing standards, compliance and training, crime data, police technologies, 


special police constable appointments and designation, and 


decriminalization. Additionally, the Community Safety Unit delivers a 


province-wide regulatory cannabis compliance and enforcement program to 


address the illegal sale and production of cannabis. 


• The Serious and Organized Crime Division is responsible for oversight and 


policy development in the areas of organized crime, gang violence and 


serious crime, as well as innovative crime prevention responses, such as 


Situation Tables. 


• The Indigenous, Core Policing, and Contract Management Division provides 


oversight of provincial, municipal, and Indigenous policing agreements, and 


works with Public Safety Canada in support of the First Nations Policing 


Program. The division also has responsibility for oversight of police model 


transitions. 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 49                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF PUBLIC SAFETY AND SOLICITOR GENERAL CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Accessibility 
Directorate 


• Providing cross-government advice and support to promote greater 


accessibility and inclusivity of policies and programs. 


• Implementation of the Accessible British Columbia Act, which seeks to 


identify, remove, and prevent barriers to inclusion experienced by people 


with disabilities. 


• Development of accessibility standards for service delivery and accessible 


employment. 


• Implementation of the Accessible B.C. Regulation, which requires local 


governments to implement an accessibility plan, accessibility committee, 


and an accessibility feedback tool. 


• Supports the Parliamentary Secretary for Accessibility. 


• Support for Ministerial Advisory Committees, including Registered Disability 


Savings Plan Action Group, and Provincial Accessibility Committee.  


Employment and 
Labour Market 
Services Division 


• WorkBC Employment Services is the largest network of employment 


providers in the province and supports all British Columbians seeking work 


regardless of where they live or employment barriers they may face. 


Services are delivered through 102 WorkBC Centres as well as through a 


strong online presence, accessible from anywhere in the province. Services 


include access to individualized employment counselling, job search 


resources, employment planning, skills training, financial supports, wage 


subsidy placements, assistive technology supports, apprentice services and 


more.  


 


MINISTRY OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND POVERTY REDUCTION 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Policing and Security  
Branch Continued... 


• A Public Safety Transformation Taskforce is linked to the Policing and Security 


Branch with a focus on Policing and Public Safety Modernization, Next 


Generation 911, the Safer Communities Action Plan as well as justice and 


public safety related recommendation from the Cullen Commission of 


Inquiry into Money Laundering in British Columbia.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 50                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT AND POVERTY REDUCTION 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Employment and 
Labour Market 
Services Division 
Continued... 


• WorkBC Community and Employer Partnerships (CEP) provide work 


experience and training opportunities in communities across B.C. to address 


local labour market issues. The CEP fund supports community-based 


initiatives to help individuals and the broader community. With the help of 


this fund, communities see positive social impacts, economic growth, and 


more employment opportunities for unemployed British Columbians. 


• To support recovery efforts, CEP is ensuring funding is accessible and 


equitably distributed throughout the province and prioritizing applications 


that: 


 Create work experience and training opportunities to prepare job 


seekers for occupations that have a strong labour market outlook.  


 Support an inclusive economic recovery in B.C. communities.  


Research, Innovation 
and Policy Division  


• Provides research, policy and legislation support to the ministry to deliver 


income and disability assistance to British Columbians most in need. 


• Leads development, evaluation, and implementation of the government’s 


policies on income and disability assistance. 


• Leads government’s work on Together BC, B.C.’s Poverty Reduction Strategy, 


and leads the ministry’s work on mandate items regarding food security and 


period poverty. 


• Supports the Parliamentary Secretary for Community Development and Non- 


Profits. 


• Leads ministry intergovernmental relations related to social services, 


Indigenous policy and Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act 


accountabilities. 


• Provides reconsideration services for clients disputing eligibility decisions 


regarding income assistance, disability assistance and child care subsidy. 







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 51                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF TOURISM, ARTS, CULTURE AND SPORT  


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Arts and Culture  • Supports the arts and culture sectors with funding, policy, and programs. 


• Administers grant programs for artists, creators, and non-profit arts and      


culture organizations. 


• Provides secretariat support and administration for the BC Arts Council. 


• Provides oversight, strategic direction, and corporate support for the Royal 


BC Museum. 


• Leads implementation of cultural infrastructure projects, including the Royal 


BC Museum Provincial Archives, Collections and Research Building, Chinese 


Canadian Museum, Canadians of South Asian Heritages Museum, provincial 


Filipino cultural center, as well as supporting the redevelopment of the 


Jewish Community Centre of Greater Vancouver, the Vancouver Art Gallery, 


and the Art Gallery of Greater Victoria. 


BC Athletic Commission  • Legislation and regulatory oversight of professional boxing, kickboxing, and 


mixed martial arts, as well as all amateur combat sports.    


Creative Sector  • Lead on cross-ministry and intergovernmental coordination, policy      


development and research to support the growth of B.C.’s creative sector 


(i.e., film, television, interactive digital media, music, and publishing) and 


work with industry stakeholders to maximize event opportunities including 


the 2025 JUNOs. Provides oversight and strategic direction for Creative BC 


and the Knowledge Network.  


Heritage  • Provides advice and information on British Columbia’s historic places,       


paleontological resources, and geographical names. Exercises regulatory 


authority and develops policy under the Heritage Conservation Act 


and the Land Act regarding the identification, formal recognition, 


commemoration, protection and celebration of heritage and fossil 


sites, management of provincial heritage sites and the management 


of the BC Register of Historic Places and the BC Geographical Names 


office.  


Mountain Resorts  • Delivers a one window regulatory approach for resort development and 


community ski area administration and the review and authorization of 


expansions and new proposals on Crown land across the province. Evaluates 


phased development plans and conducts major project reviews through 


working with First Nations, public engagement, and community and 


stakeholder engagement. Provides advice and information on resort 


development policy and programs.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 52                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF TOURISM, ARTS, CULTURE AND SPORT CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Amateur Sport  • Amateur sport contributes to the health and wellness of British Columbians 


and the vibrancy of communities. Funding is provided to support 


participation in organized sport as a way to lead active, healthy lives; 


facilitate the development of competitive athletes, coaches, officials, 


volunteers and sport administrators; and support the social and economic 


development of communities throughout British Columbia through event 


hosting. Provides oversight and strategic direction to viaSport and the BC 


Games Society as well as funding support to the Indigenous Sport, Physical 


Activity and Recreation Council.  


Marquee Sports  • The Marquee Sport Branch is responsible for maximizing the power of 


marquee sport events to ensure positive long term social and economic 


impacts for the province. This includes provincial oversight of the planning 


and delivery of marquee sports events which the province is investing, such 


as the 2024 Grey Cup, 2025 Invictus Games and FIFA World Cup 2026TM. This 


branch works with multiple stakeholders, event rights holders and all levels 


of government to ensure successful event delivery in our province.  


Tourism  • The Tourism Branch is responsible for providing policy expertise, programs, 


destination development and strategic engagement to support success of 


the B.C. tourism sector; manages the Resort Municipality Initiative (RMI), 


Tourism Event Program. Jointly administers the Municipal Regional District 


Tax program (MRDT) with Ministry of Finance and Destination BC. Provides 


oversight of Destination BC (tourism marketing) and BC Pavilion Corporation 


(BC Place and Vancouver Convention Centre) and leads development and 


implementation of provincial tourism framework.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 53                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE  


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Highways and  
Regional Services 
Division 


• The Highways and Regional Services Division is responsible for: 


 Developing, maintaining, and operating safe, secure provincial and 


regional transportation networks. 


 Leading the ministry in provincial issue management, emergency 


response and preservation of transportation infrastructure. 


 Promoting compliance of safety regulations within the transport  


sector, with the goal of increasing road safety and protecting public 


health, the environment, and transportation infrastructure. 


 Planning and delivering rehabilitation and capital projects in the 


region. 


 Fostering partnerships and delivering on commitments with 


First Nations and Indigenous communities. 


 Supporting provincial economic growth through regional work and 


development services. 


 Implementing sustainable, resilient, and innovative transportation 


solutions. 


• The division, through their Commercial Vehicle Safety Enforcement (CVSE) 


program, also: Regulates and manages commercial vehicle activities on the 


provincial highway network and aligns requirements with neighboring 


provinces to ensure the safe and efficient movement of goods within B.C. 


and beyond. 


• This division also includes the Passenger Transportation Branch, which 


regulates commercial passenger vehicles including taxis, ride hailing 


companies, limousines, charter, and inter-city (scheduled) buses, in 


accordance with the Passenger Transportation Act.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 54                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE  
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Integrated 
Transportation and  
Infrastructure Services 
Division 


• Integrated Transportation and Infrastructure Services Division develops and 


promotes a world class transportation network through innovation and 


collaboration.  


• The division oversees aspects of strategic planning, capital programming, 


engineering, land management and major project delivery for the ministry.  


• The division is also the primary interface between the government and two 


Crown Corporations: BC Rail and Transportation Investment Corporation (TI 


Corp). 


• The division’s key functions include: 


 Integrated Transportation Planning. 


 Goods Movement. 


 Properties and Land Management. 


 Transit Oriented Development and Land Value Capture. 


 Major project policy and delivery including the TI Corp relationship. 


 Engineering and Technical Services. 


 Engineering Standards. 


Policy, Programs and  
Partnerships Division 


• The Policy, Programs, and Partnerships Division is responsible for all aspects 


of strategic transportation policy and legislation, including transit, ferries, 


passenger vehicles, passenger directed services, active transportation, rail 


safety, airports, rural, remote and intercity transportation, emerging 


transportation technology, and the Motor Vehicle Act. 


• In addition: 


 The division administers a number of grant programs to support the 


transportation sector and services, including passenger accessibility, 


airports, and active transportation. 


 Manages the relationship with transportation service delivery partners 


including BC Transit, TransLink, BC Ferries, ride hail, taxi, inland ferry 


operators, airlines, etc. 


 Inter-governmental relations. 


 Leads the ministry’s participation in CleanBC and climate change 


initiatives.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 55                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE  
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Strategic and  
Corporate Priorities 
Division 


• The Strategic and Corporate Priorities Division is responsible for leading a 


wide range of strategic cross-ministry and corporate initiatives. 


• The division leads and supports cross-ministry and cross-government 


services and programs including: 


 Coordinating the delivery of the ministry’s strategic plan and ministry 


specific commitments under the Declaration on the Rights of 


Indigenous Peoples Act.  


 Leading the ministry’s Journey Toward Reconciliation, GBA+ and 


diversity, equity, and inclusion work, and is responsible for leading 


the development and implementation of the ministry’s People Plan 


and Digital Strategy.  


 Delivering culture and engagement programs and leading the 


ministry’s corporate communications strategies.  


• The division also delivers information management, privacy, security and 


digital services in partnership with our clients.  


MINISTRY OF WATER, LAND AND RESOURCE STEWARDSHIP 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Land Use Planning and 
Cumulative Effects  


• Responsible for leading B.C.’s land stewardship strategies, supported by 


science and knowledge, that promote and guide the province’s goals for 


reconciliation with First Nations. 


• Responsible for delivering the following programs: 


 Modernized Land Use Planning delivered in partnership with First 


Nations. 


 Collaborative Indigenous Stewardship Framework. 


 Cumulative Effects Framework. 


 Recommendations within the Old Growth Report, including ecosystem 


health and biodiversity. 


 Regional Management Committees.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 56                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF WATER, LAND AND RESOURCE STEWARDSHIP 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Water, Fisheries and 
Coast 


• The Water, Fisheries and Coast Division brings together program areas 


responsible for the Watershed Security Strategy and implementation, Water 


Management, Wild Salmon Strategy, and Coastal Marine Planning. 


• It works to support functioning and resilient marine, aquatic, and coastal 


ecosystems that support a diversity of economic activities and provide the 


foundation for vibrant and thriving coastal communities and cultures. 


• The division provides provincial leadership on water and coordinates 


government’s strategy on ‘source to tap’ drinking water protection. It is also 


responsible for watershed-related strategic planning, policy, science, 


assessments and analysis tools for B.C., as well supporting the use of water 


governance and planning tools in the Water Sustainability Act (e.g., water 


sustainability plans and water objectives). This work is collaborative by design and 


will include First Nations, local governments, and other interested parties. 


• B.C. and for setting objectives for water quality and sustainability. 


• The division leads the implementation of the Water Sustainability Act and 


other water related legislation and regulations as it pertains to the 


management of water allocation, dam safety and flood safety with a focus 


on public safety and resiliency of the environment. It also leads on policy, 


planning and supports in relation to water-related hazards such as flood and 


drought for the province.  


• The division supports restoration and rebuilding of wild fish populations and 


provides leadership for aquatic habitat policy and restoration. It also sets 


fisheries and aquaculture policy, develops new strategies to protect and 


revitalize B.C.’s wild salmon populations, and is the provincial lead for 


interfacing with Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO). 


• Is the Statutory Decision Maker (SDM) under the Wildlife Act for BC’s recreational 


freshwater fisheries as well as administration of the Riparian Areas Protection 


Act. 


• Leads prevention and provincial response to aquatic invasives. 


• In natural disaster response, leads actions and direction to protect or recover 


aquatic ecosystems and the aquatic/fish species that rely on them. 


• The division is the provincial hub for marine and coastal policy, planning, and 


science providing expertise to drive development and implementation of 


strategic and operational policies and plans that lead the way on 


collaborative decision-making with First Nations and Canada.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 57                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF WATER, LAND AND RESOURCE STEWARDSHIP 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Reconciliation, Lands 
and Natural Resource 
Policy  


• This Division provides leadership in developing a “roadmap” for the natural 


resource sector to support the effective operationalization and 


implementation of the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act. 


• Lands Branch works closely with the Permitting Authorizations division to 


provide operational policy support for implementation of Land Act tenures 


and transfers. Lands Branch is also responsible for the Crown Land Registry, 


the record of all Crown land transactions, and provides legislative and policy 


support for the Land Title Act and other private land legislation.   


• The Crown Land Opportunities and Restoration consists of the Crown Land 


Opportunities Program (CLO) and the Crown Contaminated Sites Program 


(CCSP). CLO provides a centre of excellence for priority Crown land sales and 


transfers in support of Ministry goals such as reconciliation and 


housing. CCSP is the lead agency for the remediation of prioritized, high-risk 


contaminated sites on vacant Crown land. 


• First Nation Land Transfers branch: supports negotiations as partner to the 


Ministry of Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation and leads the 


implementation of agreements committing to the transfer of land to First 


Nations. 


Permitting 
Transformation 
Division  


• The division covers the entire province of British Columbia and activities that 


occur across the land base including water and land authorizations and 


monitoring, Indigenous consultation, and major projects authorizations. 


• Regional offices provide client access to natural resource authorizations 


expertise and supports through Front Counter BC. 


• The division also holds responsibility for the Housing Action Taskforce to 


support provincial housing authorizations, as well as delivery of Connectivity 


permits and the Call for Power Projects through BC Hydro. 


• Additional prioritization is on advancing the necessary strategic, policy, 


process and technology work required to transform and shift permitting 


across the Ministry of Water, Land and Resource Stewardship (WLRS) and 


the Natural Resource Ministries as a whole.  







 


 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 58                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MINISTRY OF WATER, LAND AND RESOURCE STEWARDSHIP 
CONTINUED... 


DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 


Natural Resource 
Information and 
Digital Services 


(NRIDS) 


• Provides essential Information Management (IM) services by way of the 


creation, maintenance, and publication of foundational datasets and 


geospatial information – this also includes operation of the provincial 


aerial imagery and LiDAR programs, maintenance of land survey 


monumentation and data, and species and ecosystems information. This 


work provides essential context and intelligence to support decision 


making across the Natural Resource Ministries (NRM) and beyond. The 


Digital Road Atlas (DRA) program provides GIS business processes that 


support BC’s current 9-1-1 requirements. For the implementation of Next 


Generation 9-1-1 (NG9-1-1), NRIDS is advocating for improved public 


access to high quality geospatial data that delivers the broadest and best 


use as a strategic asset. The IM offerings include ready-made, 


authoritative, spatial information about the shape, landscape, 


environment, and condition of B.C. as well as offering on-demand custom 


analysis, visualization, and mapping products for the NRM.  


Resource Stewardship 
Division  


• The division is responsible for the Together for Wildlife Strategy, wildlife 


policy regulations and allocation, ecosystem health and biodiversity, 


conservation of wildlife and habitat and economic diversity and 


sustainability, fish and wildlife angling and hunting opportunities, Tripartite 


Agreement of Nature Conservation (implementation planning and fund 


coordination), the draft Biodiversity and Ecosystem Health Framework and 


advancing wildlife co-management with First Nations and partnerships to 


support shared stewardship of wildlife. 


• Responsible for delivering the following core programs: 


 Wildlife Management. 


 Wildlife Act and its regulation and policy framework. 


 Fish and Wildlife Population Assessment and Decision Support. 


 Regional Action Planning for fish and wildlife stewardship and        


                     Management. 


 First Nations Partnerships and Co-management. 


 Biodiversity Conservation Science and Research. 


 Species at Risk Recovery and Implementation. 


 Invasive Aquatic and Terrestrial Species Management. 


   Species at Risk Recovery and the Provincial Caribou Recovery 


         Program.  







 


PROVINCIAL AGENCIES, COMMISSIONS, AND CORPORATIONS 
AVAILABLE DURING THE UBCM 2024 CONVENTION 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 59                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MACC TOPIC 


Agriculture Land 
Commission 


• Information and advice regarding the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) and 


work of the Provincial Agricultural Land Commission (ALC). ALC Chair and/or 


Chief Executive Officer will be in attendance.  


BC Emergency Health  
Services (BCEHS) 


• As part of the Provincial Health Services Authority, BCEHS governs the 


emergency medical services system in B.C. and provides pre-hospital 


emergency and inter-facility patient transfer services. BCEHS paramedics, 


emergency medical call takers and dispatch staff provide pre-hospital 


emergency care and medically necessary transport (ground and air 


ambulances) for British Columbians. BCEHS also oversees patient              


inter-facility transfers in the province, working with health authorities to 


coordinate the transfer of acute and critically ill patients to an appropriate 


level of care both within and outside of B.C. 


• Members of the BCEHS executive team look forward to participating in 


productive and engaging sessions with municipal leaders.  


BC Energy Regulator • The British Columbia Energy Regulator oversees the full life cycle of energy 


resource activities in B.C. from site planning to restoration. This includes oil, 


gas, geothermal, hydrogen, ammonia, and methanol. We look forward to 


addressing any questions you may have on our regulatory oversight.  


BC Housing • BC Housing works in partnership with private and non-profit sectors, 


provincial health authorities and ministries, other levels of government and 


community groups to develop a range of housing options. These affordable 


housing options span the housing continuum, including emergency shelter 


and housing for the homeless, transitional supportive and assisted living, 


independent social housing, rent assistance in the private market, and 


affordable owner-purchase housing.  


• Through the Homeowner Protection Act, BC Housing also licenses residential 


builders, administers owner builder authorizations, ensures that mandatory 


licensing and home warranty insurance provisions are complied with, 


oversees the third-party home-warranty insurance, and carries out research 


and education that benefits the residential construction industry, 


consumers, and the affordable housing sector.  







 


PROVINCIAL AGENCIES, COMMISSIONS, AND CORPORATIONS  
AVAILABLE DURING THE UBCM 2024 CONVENTION CONTINUED…. 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 60                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MACC TOPIC 


BC Hydro • BC Hydro’s mission is to safely provide our customers with reliable, 


affordable, clean electricity. Our vision celebrates our clean energy 


advantage and our environmental stewardship role in B.C. Sustainability is 


about making the best choices with available resources, which means 


leveraging our clean electricity for all British Columbians. BC Hydro’s 


Community Relations staff look forward to addressing any questions that 


you may have related to our operations.  


BC Transit  • From small towns to large urban centres outside of Metro Vancouver, BC 


Transit delivers safe, reliable, customer focused transportation services you 


can rely on. BC Transit would be pleased to discuss any questions you may 


have regarding our services. In order to provide you with the best 


information possible, please provide specifics relating to your questions 


within the meeting request.  


Insurance Corporation 
of British Columbia  
(ICBC) 


• ICBC provides universal compulsory auto insurance (basic insurance) to 


drivers in British Columbia, with rates regulated by the British Columbia 


Utilities Commission (BCUC) and sells optional auto insurance in a 


competitive marketplace.  


• Insurance products are available across B.C. through a network of 


independent brokers, and claims services are provided at ICBC claims 


handling facilities located throughout the province.  


• ICBC invests in road safety and loss management programs to reduce traffic-


related deaths, injuries and crashes, auto crime and fraud.  


• In addition, provides driver licensing, vehicle registration and licensing 


services, and fines collection on behalf of the provincial government at 


locations across the province.  


• ICBC will have staff at the Convention who would be pleased to discuss or 


meet on any issues related to ICBC’s operations.  







 


PROVINCIAL AGENCIES, COMMISSIONS, AND CORPORATIONS  
AVAILABLE DURING THE UBCM 2024 CONVENTION CONTINUED…. 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 61                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MACC TOPIC 


Office of the Seniors 
Advocate (OSA) 


• OSA monitors and analyzes seniors’ services and issues in B.C. and makes 


recommendations to government and service providers to address systemic 


issues. The Office also provides information and referrals for individuals who 


are navigating seniors services and tracks their concerns, which helps inform 


future work. The services which the Office monitors are in five key areas: 


health care, housing, income supports, community supports and 


transportation. 


• The Office collaborates with service providers, government, and health 


authorities to improve effectiveness, efficiency, and outcomes for seniors.  


The Land Title and 
Survey Authority of  
British Columbia 
(LTSA) 


• LTSA is a statutory corporation responsible for operating BC’s land title and 


survey systems and the Land Owner Transparency Registry (LOTR). 


• LTSA processes over seven million online transactions annually and provides 


land information and datasets to the province, local governments, and other 


public agencies. The services include mapped databases such as ParcelMap 


BC and AUTOPROP. ParcelMap BC is the current, complete, and trusted 


mapped representation of titled and Crown land parcels across British 


Columbia, considered to be the point of truth for the graphical 


representation of property boundaries.  







 


PROVINCIAL AGENCIES, COMMISSIONS, AND CORPORATIONS  
AVAILABLE DURING THE UBCM 2024 CONVENTION CONTINUED…. 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 62                                    2024 UBCM Convention 


MACC TOPIC 


Police Victim Services  
British Columbia  
(PVSBC) 


• Police Victim Services of British Columbia Society (PVSBC) is the B.C. 


registered not for profit charity membership organization mandated to be 


the primary advocate for all (95+) police-based victim service (PBVS) 


organizations within the province.   


• PBVS local organizations are physically embedded with the municipal or 


RCMP detachment delivering ongoing police-based victim services to the 


citizens of each community. 


• Our Vision is - All victims of crime and trauma across B.C. receive 


compassionate, professional, and consistent services. 


• PVSBC advocates, represents, lobbies, and communicates with members, 


partners and stakeholders on the development and delivery of PVSBC 


trauma informed programs, baseline, and advanced training, professional 


development, and member support programs.  


• Funding is provided by the provincial and federal governments, with 


additional resources from corporate and individual contributions, 


sponsorships, and program revenues. 


• PVSBC will have staff present at the Convention to engage Delegates in any 


issue related to the delivery of police-based victim services as well as the 


linkage to police and other local partner/stakeholders within their 


community.  


Royal Canadian  
Mounted Police 
(RCMP) 


• The Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), Canada's national police force, 


provides policing services to most of British Columbia, including 150 


municipalities. These services include, but are not limited to, uniformed 


patrols, response to calls for service, investigative services, community-


based policing and traffic enforcement. Additionally, the BC RCMP is part of 


a number of integrated teams operating throughout the province who 


provide specialized police services to British Columbians. The BC RCMP 


values ongoing collaboration and meaningful communication with our 


partners. Representatives of the BC RCMP's Senior Management Team look 


forward to hearing your feedback and answer any questions you may have 


about its services so that we can work together towards our common goal of 


providing your community with a professional, efficient, and effective police 


service.  







 


Provincial Appointment Book                                P a g e | 63                                    2024 UBCM Convention 





		Table of Contents

		Introduction

		Meeting Information

		Ministries

		Ministry of Agriculture and Food

		Attorney General

		Ministry of Children and Family Development

		Ministry of Citizens' Services

		Ministry of Education and Child Care

		Ministry of Emergency Management and Climate Readiness

		Ministry of Energy, Mines, and Low Carbon Innovation

		Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy

		Ministry of Finance

		Ministry of Forests

		Ministry of Health

		Ministry of Housing

		Ministry of Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation

		Ministry of Jobs, Economic Development and Innovation

		Ministry of Labour

		Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions

		Ministry of Municipal Affairs

		Ministry of Post-Secondary Education and Future Skills

		Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General

		Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction

		Ministry of Tourism, Arts, Culture and Sport

		Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure

		Ministry of Water, Land and Resource Stewardship



		Agencies, Commissions, and Corporations

		Agricultural Land Commission

		BC Emergency Health Services

		BC Energy Regulator

		BC Housing

		BC Hydro

		BC Transit

		Insurance Corporation of BC

		Office of the Seniors Advocate

		The Land Title and Survey Authority of BC

		Police Victim Services BC

		Royal Canadian Mounted Police







as MACC staff availability may be limited on site.

If you have any questions, please contact the MACC Staff Meeting Coordinator, Sarah Staszkiel, by
phone at: 778 405-1784, or the Assistant MACC Staff Meeting Coordinator, Casey Cathcart, by phone
at: 778 405-3140. You may also reach out via email at: MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca.

Thank you.

Regards,

Birgit Schmidt, Director, Operations and Client Relations
MUNI-UBCM Convention Coordinator
Local Government Division │ Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Phone: 778 698-3260 │ Email: Birgit.Schmidt@gov.bc.ca

Note: Contact information is provided by CivicInfo BC. To ensure you receive all relevant
communications please ensure the contact information for your organization is updated regularly.

25

mailto:MUNI.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca
mailto:Birgit.Schmidt@gov.bc.ca


TO: Mayor and Council   MEETING DATE: May 27, 2024 

FROM: Daniela Dyck, CAO 

SUBJECT: BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement – Para Transit System Update 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

THAT, Council approves Staff to sign the BC Transit Annual Operating Agreement for 2024/2025 and 

continue to provide the Para Transit Service between Ashcroft, Cache Creek and Clinton. 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to request Council approval to sign the 2024/2025 Annual Operating 

Agreement for the ongoing Para Transit System between the Village of Ashcroft and BC Transit, and 

provide an update to transit services as proposed by BC Transit effective August 1, 2025 

Respectfully Submitted by: 

Daniela Dyck,  

Chief Administrative Officer 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

BACKGROUND: 
Each year BC Transit forwards the Annual Operating Agreement (AOA) for signature to the Ashcroft as the 
signatory for the Para Transit System. The AOA was presented to the Transit Committee who is 
recommending that Council approve the AOA for signature. 

DISCUSSION: 
The new budget for 2024/2025 includes a notable revenue increase of 20% from Interior Health, ensuring 
adequate coverage of the operational costs associated with Health Connections trips. This lift amounts to 
a significant contribution towards sustaining vital health services within our community. 

In November, the Village received a draft budget from BC Transit to facilitate our budgeting and planning 
endeavors for the upcoming year. Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Bhalla has conscientiously provided Cache 
Creek and Clinton with a proposed budget for the service, prior to their individual budgeting processes. 
The net local government share of costs for the 2024/2025 season stands at $192,518, reflecting an 
increase of $21,408 compared to the previous season. Notably, the majority of this increase is offset by 
the revenues from the Interior Health Connection bus. 

TRANSIT SYSTEM UPDATE: 
Significant changes are on the horizon for our transit system, effective August 1, 2025, as BC Transit 
progresses with the regionalization of transit services throughout the province. This decision, enacted by 
BC Transit in February without local government partner consultation, was communicated to the Village 
on May 22, 2024. 

26



Regionalization entails BC Transit's preference for a single operator to oversee the transit systems in 
Kamloops, Merritt, Clearwater, Ashcroft, Cache Creek, and Clinton. The Request for Proposal (RFP) for this 
consolidation will be posted later this year. However, certain concerns have been raised regarding this 
initiative: 

Exclusion of Non-Profit Operator: 
Yellowhead Community Services, the non-profit operator in Clearwater and Ashcroft, will be 
unable to participate in the bidding process. This raises concerns, particularly regarding the track 
record of potential bidders such as TransDev. 

Increased Costs: 
System operators, namely municipalities, are expected to bear higher costs under the 
regionalization scheme. This is concerning, given the existing disparities in cost-sharing, which 
unfairly burden certain municipalities. 

Uncertain Employment Status: 
Existing non-union drivers in Ashcroft and Clearwater are not guaranteed continued employment 
under the new system. This could lead to the loss of valuable community ambassadors and 
experienced personnel. 

CONCLUSION: 

Given the circumstances outlined, it is crucial for Council to maintain an active and vigilant stance in 

advocating for the best interests of our community, especially concerning the forthcoming alterations to 

the transit system. It is essential to engage in collaborative efforts with stakeholders to effectively 

navigate these transitions while ensuring the accessibility and efficiency of essential services for our 

residents. 

Council's resolution, aiming for a more equitable distribution of budget increases to the transit system 

between BC Transit and local government service providers, has garnered was endorsed by the Southern 

Interior Local Government Association (SILGA) membership. This resolution will be forwarded to the 

Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) for deliberation in September.  

In light of the upcoming changes, administration encourages Council to request a meeting with the 

Minister of Transportation and Infrastructure and a separate meeting with BC Transit staff to advocate 

for affordable services, equitable distribution of cost increases between BC Transit and local governments, 

and consultation in regards to the regionalization of transit services at the 2024 UBCM Conference. 

Strategic/Municipal Objectives 

Strategic Plan 

Legislative Authority 

Financial Implications 

Attachment Listing 

AOA 2024/2025

27



 wil_AOA 

ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT 

between 

Village of Ashcroft 

and 

British Columbia Transit 

Effective 
April 1, 2024

28



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

CONTENTS1 

SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS.................................................................................................................... 3 

SECTION 2: INCORPORATION OF SCHEDULES ............................................................................... 3 

SECTION 3: INCORPORATION OF TRANSIT SERVICE AGREEMENT ............................................. 3 

SECTION 4: TERM AND RENEWAL ..................................................................................................... 4 

SECTION 5: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT ........................ 4 

SECTION 6: SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES ......................................................................................... 4 

SECTION 7: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS .................................................................................... 4 

SECTION 8: LOCAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESERVES .................................................................. 5 

SECTION 9: SAFE RESTART CONTRIBUTION ................................................................................... 6 

SECTION 10: GOVERNING LAW ......................................................................................................... 7 

SECTION 11: COUNTERPARTS ........................................................................................................... 7 

SECTION 12: NOTICES AND COMMUNICATIONS ............................................................................. 7 

SCHEDULE A: TARIFF AND FARES ..................................................................................................... 9 

APPENDIX 1: TARIFF AND FARES .................................................................................................. 9 

SCHEDULE B: SERVICE SPECIFICATIONS ..................................................................................... 10 

SCHEDULE C: BUDGET ..................................................................................................................... 11 

29



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

3 

ANNUAL OPERATING AGREEMENT 

April 1, 2024 – March 31, 2025 

BETWEEN: Village of Ashcroft 
(the "Municipality") 

AND: British Columbia Transit 
(the "Authority") 

WHEREAS the Authority is authorized to contract for transit services for the purpose of providing and 
maintaining those services and facilities necessary for the establishment, maintenance and operation of a 
public passenger transportation system in the Transit Service Area; 

WHEREAS the Municipality is authorized to enter into one or more agreements with the Authority for transit 
services in the Transit Service Area;  

WHEREAS the parties hereto have entered into a Transit Service Agreement which sets out the general rights 
and responsibilities of the parties hereto; 

WHEREAS the Municipality and the Authority are authorized to share in the costs for the provision of a Public 
Passenger Transportation System pursuant to the British Columbia Transit Act;  

AND WHEREAS the parties hereto wish to enter into an Annual Operating Agreement which sets out, 
together with the Transit Service Agreement, the specific terms and conditions for the Public Passenger 
Transportation System for the upcoming term. 

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that in consideration of the premises and of the 
covenants hereinafter contained, the parties covenant and agree with each other as follows: 

SECTION 1: DEFINITIONS 

Unless agreed to otherwise in the Annual Operating Agreement, the definitions set out in the Transit Service 
Agreement shall apply to this Annual Operating Agreement including: 

a) “Annual Operating Agreement” shall mean this Annual Operating Agreement and any Annual
Operating Agreement Amendments negotiated and entered into by the parties subsequent hereto;

b) “Transit Service Agreement” shall mean the Transit Service Agreement between the parties to this
Annual Operating Agreement, including any amendments made thereto;

c) “Incurred” means an event or transaction has taken place for which an obligation to pay exists, even if
an invoice has not been received, such that the underlying evidence indicates there is little or no
discretion to avoid the obligation. The value of the obligation is to be calculated in accordance with
recognized Canadian accounting standards.

SECTION 2: INCORPORATION OF SCHEDULES 

All schedules to this agreement are incorporated into the agreement, and form part of the agreement. 

SECTION 3: INCORPORATION OF TRANSIT SERVICE AGREEMENT 

Upon execution, this Annual Operating Agreement shall be deemed integrated into the Transit Service 
Agreement and thereafter the Transit Service Agreement and Annual Operating Agreement shall be read 
together as a single integrated document and shall be deemed to be the Annual Operating Agreement for the 
purposes of the British Columbia Transit Act, as amended from time to time.

30



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

4 

SECTION 4: TERM AND RENEWAL 

a) The parties agree that the effective date of this agreement is to be April 1, 2024, whether or not the
agreements have been fully executed by the necessary parties. Once this agreement and the
associated Transit Service Agreement are duly executed, this agreement will replace all provisions in
the existing Transit Service Agreement and Master Operating Agreement with respect to the rights and
obligations as between the Authority and the Municipality.

b) Upon commencement in accordance with Section 4(a) of this agreement, the term of this agreement
shall be to March 31, 2025, except as otherwise provided herein. It is acknowledged by the parties
that in the event of termination or non-renewal of the Annual Operating Agreement, the Transit Service
Agreement shall likewise be so terminated or not renewed, as the case may be.

c) Either party may terminate this agreement as follows:

i. Cancellation by the Authority: In the event that the Authority decides to terminate this
Agreement for any reason whatsoever, the Authority shall provide at least one hundred and
eighty (180) days prior written notice. Such notice to be provided in accordance with
Section 12.

ii. Cancellation by the Municipality: In the event that the Municipality decides to terminate this
Transit Service Agreement for any reason whatsoever, and by extension the Annual
Operating Agreement, the Municipality shall provide at least one hundred and eighty (180)
days prior written notice. Such notice to be provided in accordance with Section 12.

SECTION 5: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND PROTECTION OF PRIVACY ACT 

This Agreement and the parties hereto are subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act (FOIPPA). Any information developed in the performance of this Agreement, or any 
personal information obtained, collected, or stored pursuant to this Agreement, including database 
information, shall be deemed confidential and subject to the provisions of FOIPPA including the handling, 
storage, access and security of such information. Confidential information shall not be disclosed to any third 
party except as expressly permitted by the Authority or pursuant to the requirements of FOIPPA. 

SECTION 6: SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES 

In the event of any dispute arising between or among the parties as to their respective rights and obligations 
under this Agreement, or in the event of a breach of this Agreement, the parties agree to use their best efforts 
to find resolution through a mediated settlement. However, in the event that mediation is not successful in 
finding a resolution satisfactory to all parties involved, any party shall be entitled to give to the other notice of 
such dispute and to request arbitration thereof; and the parties may, with respect to the particular matter then 
in dispute, agree to submit the same to a single arbitrator in accordance with the applicable statutes of the 
Province of British Columbia.  

SECTION 7: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

a) Amendment: This agreement may only be amended in writing as signed by the Municipality and the
Authority and specifying the effective date of the amendment.

b) Assignment: This Agreement shall not be assignable without prior written consent of the parties.

c) Enurement: This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and
their respective successors.

d) The parties agree that this agreement is in substantial compliance with all relevant legislative
requirements to establish the rights and obligations of the parties as set out in the British Columbia
Transit Act.

31



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft  

 

5 

e) BC Transit acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Community Transit Partnership Agreement between 
the Municipality and the Village of Cache Creek and the Village of Clinton (the “Partner”) effective July 
2, 2019 and a copy of the Community Transit Partnership Agreement between the Municipality and 
Interior Health Authority (the “Partner”) effective November 26, 2006. BC Transit hereby provides 
written consent for the Municipality to enter into the Community Transit Partnership Agreement 
provided, however, that: 

i. In the event the Partner provides one year’s notice of its intention to terminate the Community 
Transit Partnership Agreement, the Municipality will immediately notify the Authority in writing 
of such termination; 

ii. In the event the Partner provides the Municipality with a payment in lieu of providing notice of 
termination pursuant to Section 4 of the Community Transit Partnership Agreement, the 
Municipality will immediately forward to BC Transit the full amount of such payment, without 
set-off whatsoever; and, 

iii. In the event the Partner provides the Municipality with payment in accordance with the 
subsection above, and the Municipality fails or neglects to forward such payment to the 
Authority, the Authority shall have the right to include such amount in its monthly invoice to the 
Municipality for immediate payment by the Municipality. 

SECTION 8: LOCAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND RESERVES 

British Columbia Transit service is provided using a cost-sharing model. Where any transit-related 
contributions are received and/or third-party revenues are earned that are in excess of expenses, the 
Authority is required to hold these excess funds in a reserve account for use against transit-related 
expenditures in future years. When unanticipated expenditures occur that were not included in the budget and 
cannot be covered by reserves, the Authority will seek to recover these based on the cost-sharing ratios 
between the Municipality and the Authority. 
 
Eligible Operating Expenses 

The Authority will invoice the Municipality and collect on monthly invoices based on incurred eligible operating 
expenses to provide Transit Service. Eligible operating expenses are comprised of the following costs of 
providing Public Passenger Transportation Systems: 

a) For Conventional Transit Service: 

i. the operating costs for providing Conventional Transit Service excluding interest and 
amortization; 

ii. the amount of any operating lease costs of BC Transit for Conventional Transit Services; 

iii. the amount of the municipal administration charge not exceeding 2% of the direct operating 
costs payable under an Annual Operating Agreement; 

iv. an amount of the annual operating costs of the authority not exceeding those costs payable 
under an Annual Operating Agreement; 

b) For Custom Transit Service: 

i. the operating costs for providing Custom Transit Service excluding interest and amortization, 
but including the amount paid by the Authority to redeem taxi saver coupons issued under the 
Taxi Saver Program after deducting from that amount the amount realized from the sale of 
those coupons; 

ii. the amount of any operating lease costs of the Authority for Custom Transit Service; 

iii. the amount of the municipal administration charge not exceeding 2% of the direct operating 
costs payable under an Annual Operating Agreement; and, 

32



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

6 

iv. an amount of the annual operating costs of the authority not exceeding those costs payable
under an Annual Operating Agreement;

c) Eligible operating expenses exclude the costs of providing third-party 100%-funded services.

d) Annual operating costs of the Authority are operations, maintenance and administration costs that are
for the shared benefit of all transit systems operated by the Authority. These costs are allocated to
each transit system on a pro rata basis, based on the nature of the costs.

Lease Fees 

The Authority will invoice the Municipality and collect on monthly invoices for lease fees on tangible capital 
assets owned by the Authority that are used in the provision of transit service. Lease fees are comprised of 
the following:  

a) The Municipality’s fee for use of the asset, including for the costs of acquisition, construction,
development and betterment of the asset and the costs of installing the asset at the location and
condition necessary for its intended use;

b) Debt financing and risk-related charges or costs payable on assets;

c) Payment into a reserve fund for preventative maintenance and major repair of assets owned or leased
by the authority;

d) Amounts sufficient for the Authority to recover all other costs relating to the asset, including, but not
limited to taxes and administrative charges.

Where lease fees are received that exceed actual asset-related expenses in any given period, these will be 
placed in a pooled reserve. This reserve will be used to offset against future lease fees as outlined above.  

Reserve Funds 

The Authority will establish the following for each transit system to record the contributions that have been 
received but not yet earned as follows:  

a. Local Transit Fund: Contributions by the Municipality towards eligible operating expenses that have
been received but not matched with a Provincial share contribution will be deferred in the Local Transit
Fund.

i. Any expenditure of monies from the Local Transit Fund will:

1. only be credited towards the Municipality’s share of expenses for the transit system for
which it was collected.

2. be applied to reduce Municipal invoices at the discretion of the Municipality as agreed
to under the Annual Operating Agreement or amendments as required.

ii. The Local Transit Fund may be used towards lease fees.

iii. The Authority will provide a quarterly statement of account of the Local Transit Fund balance
including contributions, amounts utilized and interest earned.

SECTION 9: SAFE RESTART CONTRIBUTION 

Under the Safe Restart Program, the federal and provincial governments provided joint, non-recurring  
contributions to transit systems in British Columbia (the “Safe Restart Contribution”) in 2020/21 and 2021/22. 

The Authority applied the Safe Restart Contributions as follows: 

a) As an allocation towards the Municipality’s share of eligible operating expenses in the fiscal year of
the contribution;

33



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

7 

b) After applying the allocation of Safe Restart Contribution, any excess contributions received from the
Municipality were deferred to the Local Transit Fund;

c) The Authority will apply the remaining Local Transit Fund balance to reduce 2022/23 and future
municipal invoices at the discretion of the Municipality as agreed to under an Annual Operating
Agreement or amendments as required.

It is expected that by receiving the Safe Restart contribution, the Municipality will work with the Authority to 
maintain targeted essential transit service levels by not reducing transit service below existing planned service 
levels and maintain affordability by limiting annual fare increases to an average of 2.3% from April 1, 2020 
through March 31, 2025. 

SECTION 10: GOVERNING LAW 

This agreement is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the Province of 
British Columbia, with respect to those matters within provincial jurisdiction, and in accordance with the laws 
of Canada with respect to those matters within the jurisdiction of the Government of Canada. 

SECTION 11: COUNTERPARTS 

This contract and any amendment hereto may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to 
be an original and all of which shall be considered to be one and the same contract. A signed facsimile or PDF 
copy of this contract, or any amendment, shall be effective and valid proof of execution and delivery. 

SECTION 12: NOTICES AND COMMUNICATIONS 

All notices, claims and communications required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and 
shall be sufficiently given if personally delivered to a designated officer of the parties hereto to whom it is 
addressed where an electronic signed document is emailed to the parties or if mailed by prepaid registered 
mail to the Authority at: 

British Columbia Transit 

c/o Executive Assistant, Strategy and Public Affairs 

PO Box 9861 

520 Gorge Road East 

Victoria, BC V8W 9T5 

and to the Municipality at: 

Village of Ashcroft 

601 Bancroft Street 

Ashcroft, BC V0K 1A0 

and, if so mailed, shall be deemed to have been received five (5) days following the date of such mailing. 

34



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

8 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hand this _______ day of ___________, 2024. 

Village of Ashcroft 

British Columbia Transit 

Vice President, Strategy and Public Affairs 

Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer 

35



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

9 

SCHEDULE A: TARIFF AND FARES 

APPENDIX 1: TARIFF AND FARES 

Cash Fares: 

Adult/Student/Senior $2.00 

Children, 12 and under Free 

Door-to-door $2.00 

Kamloops $5.00 

100 Mile House $5.00 

Health Connections $5.00 

Tickets: 

All $5.00 

36



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

10 

SCHEDULE B: SERVICE SPECIFICATIONS 

The Local Transit Service Area for the boundaries of the Ashcroft-Cache Creek-Clinton Transit Service 
Area shall be defined as the Village of Ashcroft, Village of Cache Creek, Village of Clinton, District of 100 
Mile House, Electoral Area’ ‘E’ & ‘I’ of the Thompson Nicola Regional District and Electoral Area’ ‘G’ of 
the Cariboo Regional District.  It also includes all areas between: 1) Lillooet and Kamloops, 2) Lillooet 
and Lytton 3) Lytton and Kamloops, and 4) the Clinton and 100 Mile House. 

The Annual Service Level for Ashcroft-Cache Creek-Clinton Transit Service shall be 2,100 Service Hours. 

The Exception Days recognized annually for the Ashcroft-Cache Creek-Clinton Transit Service are: 

Exception Day Service Level 

Good Friday No Service 

Easter Monday No Service 

Victoria Day No Service 

Canada Day No Service 

BC Day No Service 

Labour Day No Service 

Truth and Reconciliation Day No Service 

Thanksgiving Day No Service 

Remembrance Day No Service 

Christmas Day No Service 

Boxing Day No Service 

New Year’s Day No Service 

Family Day No Service 

37



BC Transit FY2025 Annual Operating Agreement 

Village of Ashcroft 

11 

SCHEDULE C: BUDGET 

ASH-CACHE-CLINT PARA TRANSIT 

OFFICIAL AOA 
2024/25 

TOTAL REVENUE 15,727 

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS 250,945 

TOTAL COSTS (including Local Government Share of Lease Fees) 283,093 

NET LOCAL GOVERNMENT SHARE OF COSTS 192,518 

38



' 

May 20, 2024 

Ashcroft & District Lions Club, 
Box 808, 

Ashcroft, BC V0K lA0 
250 457-0068 

Email: sjpeters14@gmail.com 

The Village of Ashcroft, 
Box 129, 
Ashcroft, BC V0K 1 AO 

Re: Annual Skip's Memorial Charity Run 

We are starting the planning for Skip's Run again this year and our first step is get approval of the 
route from the Village Council. 

- Date: Sunday, June 2, 2024
- Registration: 7:30 am
- Run starts - 8:45
- Run finish - approximately 1 :00 pm

- Route: same as previous years.
- the 10 km run will start at The Hub, go along Ash Street, along Government

Street to the Bridge, across the Bridge, along Evans Rd. to the "Caution
Trucks" sign and back the same route. This is the route we took last year and
it was very successful. We had flag people along the route making sure that
the runners were safe. On Government Street where the large trucks travel,
we stopped the runners to let the trucks by. During the run last year there
were only three large semis and they travel very slowly.

- We will have members from the Cache Creek and Ashcroft Fire Departments
monitoring the run by driving back and forth along the route.

- The RCMP and local Ambulance will be notified of the run.

The necessary insurance is in place and you have a binder.

. ...... 2 

39



40



From: Douglas Holmes <DHolmes@rdn.bc.ca> 
Sent: Friday, May 17, 2024 8:51 AM 
To: Douglas Holmes <DHolmes@rdn.bc.ca> 
Subject: Legislative Reform Initiative 

Good morning, fellow CAOs. 

As many of you will have seen, the Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN) has been leading, in collaboration 
with some of you, the conversation for a proposed reform/rewrite of the Local Government Act.   

We have sponsored several sessions on this topic at both UBCM and AVICC, (Association of Vancouver 
Island and Coastal Communities).  This work has been generously supported (including on the panel 
sessions) by Don Lidstone.   

I am writing today to invite your local government to endorse this work through writing a letter of 
support.  RDN Chair Vanessa Craig has sent a letter to your Mayors and Chairs making this request and I 
have attached that letter with background materials as well as a draft letter of support for you to use, 
should that be helpful.  A sincere thank you to those local governments who have provided letters of 
support already.   

Nothing will change if this matter is not seen to have political support around the Province.  Letters from 
your local governments will help to demonstrate that support.   

We have heard concerns that new legislation will mean more work at a time when we are already very 
busy.  I wish to remind us all that our legislation is enabling, meaning that our Local Governments access 
the powers that our elected officials have decided are useful to the constituencies they serve.  We 
sincerely hope that new and more flexible powers are made available through legislative reform; powers 
that our local governments can access, but don’t have to.   

Thank you for your consideration in your already-busy day. 

Very best regards, 
Doug. 

Douglas Holmes, BBA, CPA, CA  (he/him/his) Why do I share pronouns? 
Chief Administrative Officer 
Regional District of Nanaimo 
6300 Hammond Bay Road, Nanaimo, BC  V9T 6N2 
C: 250-268-2271 | Email: dholmes@rdn.bc.ca 
RDN | Get Involved RDN | Facebook | Twitter | Instagram 

We acknowledge that for thousands of years the Coast Salish First Nations have been deeply connected 
to the territories where we now work. 

This email is confidential and may be privileged; it is for the use of the named recipient(s) only. If you are not an intended recipient of this 
email, please notify the sender immediately and do not copy or disclose its contents to any person or body. Any use of this email by an 
unintended recipient is prohibited. The accuracy or completeness of the information attached to, or disclosed in this email is not guaranteed by 
the sender. 

41

mailto:DHolmes@rdn.bc.ca
mailto:DHolmes@rdn.bc.ca
https://www.mypronouns.org/sharing
mailto:dholmes@rdn.bc.ca
https://rdn.bc.ca/
http://www.getinvolved.rdn.ca/
https://www.facebook.com/RegionalDistrictofNanaimo/
https://twitter.com/RDNanaimo
https://www.instagram.com/rdnanaimo


Background and Discussion Ques�ons 

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs (MUNI) is commited to listening to local governments about their 
evolving needs and how the exis�ng legislated framework accommodates new responsibili�es and 
challenges. Much of the legisla�ve agenda sponsored by MUNI in recent years has responded to cri�cal 
local government needs uncovered as a result of the pandemic and in response to UBCM resolu�ons. 
The development of legisla�ve change is a lengthy, complex, and resource intensive process. Therefore, 
it must be rooted in and supported by a clear gap in exis�ng tools and authori�es to fix an iden�fied 
problem that the current legisla�on or other tools don’t resolve. The mere desire for regional district 
(RD) legisla�on alone needs to be tested against a real need, with a clear path on policy development for 
the province to consider. 

Government Priorities 

The province has been clear in its priori�es and focus on pressing issues of affordability and housing 
supply – alloca�ng significant resources from both the Ministry of Housing and MUNI to ini�a�ves in this 
space. That scarce alloca�on is determined by elected decision makers. The priority on affordability and 
housing supply also presents an opportunity and recognizes that issues of housing availability and 
affordability are not just urban issues – and that there is a role for regional approaches to support this 
work that may require new thinking of how RDs are beter able to par�cipate in solu�ons that will have 
direct implica�ons for RD regulatory authori�es. 

In addi�on, MUNI along with other agencies and ministries, are working on other ini�a�ves that have a 
direct impact on RD authori�es, these include:   

• The local government financial review working group, made up of staff from the province and
UBCM, where work has been underway to review the local government finance system in B.C.,
analyzing the recommenda�ons in the 2021 UBCM report, and discussing maters of mutual
interest;

• Inclusive regional governance to explore First Na�ons’ interests on RD boards (explore issues
such as geographic implica�ons/boundaries of the current RD system and alignment with First
Na�on territories, elec�on mechanics, and service provision);

• Considera�on of business licensing and enforcement authori�es for RDs, as previously
requested by RDs.

Discussion ques�ons – Are there specific RD challenges and legisla�ve concerns that align with the 
current provincial priori�es? What are the clearly defined problem statements/lack of authority for 
RDs not already accommodated for? 

Other Approaches and Tools 

In the past, RD officials have expressed a range of concerns such as lack of regulatory authority – in 
some cases the authori�es in ques�on may exist or it may be facilitated through regula�on (recent 
examples include fireworks and source separa�on regula�ons). Other iden�fied concerns relate to some 
of the fundamental founda�ons of RD structures and principles – such as the principle that cost-
recovery for services being matched with the beneficiaries of the service, or the unique ability of RDs to 
balance rural and urban interests. Any changes contemplated need to be evidence-based and targeted 

42



and not be change for “a nice to have” versus a par�cular business or governance need for which a 
policy ra�onale exists and no other tools exist. 

Discussion ques�ons – given the inherent flexibility in the RD system, are there other tools or 
approaches that may address challenges that could support RDs in the absence of legisla�ve 
changes?  

Process for further engagement 

Given the key and pressing priori�es that the province is currently engaged on (e.g., housing and 
homelessness, climate change and emergency planning, health, and the opioid crisis) there are prac�cal 
considera�ons about how the local government system (including municipali�es and RDs) will partner 
and collaborate with the province to address these issues. MUNI remains commited to understanding 
the broad views and perspec�ves of local government officials (both regional and municipal) across BC 
on the issues facing their regions and communi�es including the need for legisla�ve change. We will 
take under considera�on the results of this session. 

Discussion ques�ons – Have inclusive, broad meaningful conversa�ons about RD outcomes and 
authori�es occurred across all RDs? And have those been shared with MUNI? How will RDs organize 
themselves to ensure that all voices will be heard? 

43



6300 Hammond Bay Road, Nanaimo, BC  V9T 6N2 www.rdn.bc.ca 

January 19, 2024 

Re: Legislative Reform Initiative Update 

Dear Local Government Colleagues: 

On September 21, 2023, the Regional District of Nanaimo (RDN), Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District, 
Fraser Valley Regional District (City of Chilliwack), and Don Lidstone, K.C., hosted an interactive, 
discussion-based panel session (Legislative Reform Initiative) focused on reform of the Local 
Government Act (LGA) at the UBCM Annual Convention in Vancouver. While the lack of powers for 
regional districts in the Act was a major spark for this initiative, the session was intended for both 
municipal and regional district officials because many aspects of municipal operations are contained in 
the LGA and municipal issues with the Act have been the subject of numerous UBCM resolutions over 
the years. Similar workshops have been held previously at the Association of Vancouver Island and 
Coastal Communities’ Annual Conventions in 2022 and 2023. Approximately 80-85 people attended the 
September 2023 UBCM session, indicating a broad interest in this evolving topic. 

Concerns about the dated Local Government Act have been widespread for some time among local 
governments. Although the Ministry of Municipal Affairs has made significant incremental changes in 
the legislation over time, without a comprehensive modernization of the LGA regional districts are left 
without sufficient tools or authority to meet expanding responsibilities or to legislate in key areas in 
comparison with municipalities. Moreover, the evolving social, political, and economic environments 
that both municipalities and regional districts operate within, such as climate change, environmental 
stewardship, and a recognition of the importance of First Nations’ participation in regional governance, 
should be reflected in updated and modernized legislation. A key component of our discussions is that 
any additional powers or tools granted to local government are opt-in so that local governments can 
choose to implement tools based on what is best for their area. 

The goals of the September 2023 UBCM interactive panel session were: 

• to provide context and background about the Legislative Reform Initiative
• to discuss whether to proceed with the Legislative Reform Initiative
• to discuss options for the best path forward to steer the process

Prior to the session, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs provided some background information and several 
questions to consider during the group’s discussion. This material was useful and very much appreciated. 

The RDN committed to sending UBCM members a “What We Heard” document summarizing discussion 
at the session and next steps.  We are attaching that document to this letter for your information, as 
well as the material provided by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs that was considered as part of the 
September 2023 panel discussion at UBCM. In addition, we are attaching the slide deck presented at the 
UBCM session.  

44



Re: Legislative Reform Initiative Update 
Page 2 

We encourage other local governments to participate in this important initiative. As indicated in the 
“What We Heard” document, the RDN is currently following up with UBCM on the possibility of 
requesting that the UBCM Executive form a working group on this topic. Having letters of support from 
local governments across the province would be helpful in demonstrating interest. Should you wish to 
send a letter of support, have any questions, or wish to share examples of legislative challenges 
stemming from the Local Government Act, please contact RDN Chief Administrative Officer Douglas 
Holmes at dholmes@rdn.bc.ca.  

 Sincerely, 

Vanessa Craig 
Chair, Regional District of Nanaimo 

Encl. 

45

mailto:dholmes@rdn.bc.ca


MEMORANDUM 

TO:    RDN Board of Directors DATE:      March 22, 2024 

FROM:    Elizabeth J. Hughes, Manager, Strategy and 
  Intergovernmental Services  

SUBJECT:   Update on Legislative Reform Initiative 

Background 
The Legislative Reform Initiative began in 2021, led by the RDN, and envisions mobilizing a collective 
intergovernmental effort to update and modernize the Local Government Act.   

Concerns with the dated Local Government Act include restrictions on taxation and revenue sources, complexities 
in establishing services, and the lack of provisions in comparison with Section 8 of the Community Charter which 
gives municipalities powers to regulate, prohibit, and impose requirements by bylaw without provincial approval 
or establishing bylaws. Regional districts are limited in their legislative authority in several areas such as business 
licensing authority (which the province is now addressing as part of its efforts around short-term rental housing), 
subdivision approval, regulation of fireworks discharge, parking enforcement, tree management, and taxation and 
funding models. Social, political, and economic environments that local governments operate within continue to 
evolve in areas such as climate change, environmental stewardship, and a recognition of the importance of First 
Nations’ participation in governance. These realities should be reflected in a modernized legislative framework.  

Actions Taken 
Since 2021, discussions of the Legislative Reform Initiative have been held with three Ministers of Municipal 
Affairs. The RDN has hosted or co-hosted 8 panel sessions or presentations about this initiative at AVICC, UBCM, 
and several Chair/CAO Forums, including an upcoming session at the Regional District Chair/CAO Forum on March 
26, 2024. Chair Vanessa Craig and CAO Douglas Holmes have been invited to present an update on the initiative 
at the Electoral Area Directors Forum at AVICC on April 12, 2024.   

Most recently, at the panel session on legislative reform at UBCM in September 2023, co-hosted by the RDN, 
Fraser Valley Regional District (City of Chilliwack), Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District, and Don Lidstone, K.C., 
session attendees expressed support for asking UBCM to lead the initiative and establish a working group to steer 
the process. The proposed working group would include representatives from municipalities, regional districts, 
First Nations, UBCM, and ministerial staff, and would conduct research and policy work to develop a framework 
for reviewing and modernizing the Local Government Act.  

Following the September 2023 UBCM panel session, the RDN drafted a “What We Heard” document (attached) 
and circulated it to UBCM members, summarizing the session discussion and next steps, and requesting letters of 
support for a UBCM working group on comprehensive legislative reform and modernization. 

Current Status 
Letters of support are being received from regional districts and municipalities and are being provided to directors 
in weekly Board correspondence. While UBCM has not come to a decision about including the legislative reform 
initiative in its work plan, UBCM leadership has held several discussions about the initiative and is gathering 
further information. This is long term project will likely take several years to unfold and come to fruition. 

46



1 

LEGISLATIVE REFORM INITIATIVE: NEXT STEPS 
UBCM ANNUAL CONVENTION, September 21, 2023 

Summary of Session and What We Heard 

SUMMARY OF SESSION 

On September 21, 2023, the Regional District of Nanaimo, Fraser Valley Regional District (City of 
Chilliwack), Alberni-Clayoquot Regional District, and Don Lidstone, K.C., hosted an interactive, discussion-
based session on legislative reform. The session was intended for both municipal officials as well as 
regional district officials because many aspects of municipal operations are contained in the Local 
Government Act. 

The goals of the session were: 

• to provide context and background about the Legislative Reform Initiative
• to discuss whether to proceed with the Legislative Reform Initiative
• to discuss options for the best path forward to steer the process

The Ministry of Municipal Affairs provided background and several questions to consider during the 
group’s discussion (Attachment 1). 

Approximately 80-85 people attended the session, indicating a broad interest in this evolving topic. 

Concerns with the dated Local Government Act include restrictions on taxation and revenue sources, 
complexities in establishing services, and the lack of provisions in comparison with Section 8 of the 
Community Charter which gives municipalities powers to regulate, prohibit, and impose requirements by 
bylaw without provincial approval or establishing bylaws. Regional districts are limited in their legislative 
authority in comparison with municipalities in several key areas such as business licensing authority 
(which the province is now addressing as part of its efforts around short-term rental housing), subdivision 
approval, regulation of fireworks discharge, parking enforcement, tree management, and taxation and 
funding models. Further, social, political, and economic environments that local governments operate 
within continue to evolve in areas such as climate change, environmental stewardship, and a recognition 
of the importance of First Nations’ participation in regional governance. These realities should be reflected 
in a modernized legislative framework.  

During the session, Slido polls were used to conduct two “straw polls” of the participants, on these 
questions: 1) whether or not to proceed with the Legislative Reform Initiative, and 2) whether a UBCM 
working group or a joint local government project is the best path forward to steer the process. 

The majority of participants indicated support for the Legislative Reform Initiative, and indicated their 
preference would be for a UBCM working group to steer the initiative. These polls were conducted to gain 
a sense of the sentiments of the session participants only, and are not assumed to represent the views of 
the UBCM membership as a whole.  

47



2 

WHAT WE HEARD 

WHY A COMPREHENSIVE MODERNIZATION EFFORT IS NEEDED 

• The Ministry of Municipal Affairs has made important incremental changes in the legislation
over time, but a more comprehensive modernization project is needed.

• Extensive downloading of responsibilities from the Province to local governments has
exacerbated the problems local governments face; outdated legislation prevents local
governments from addressing these issues effectively.

• Over 90% of the province is rural and is not under the Community Charter; these areas should
not be governed by legislation that was drafted in 1966.

• Regional districts and municipalities have restricted powers where they have delegated
authority only, are not constitutionally protected, and have few tools or resources to address
local problems.

• Particular challenges with the Local Government Act (LGA) raised by participants at this
session:

o responding effectively to emergencies and natural disasters
o taking measures to mitigate the effects of climate change
o dealing with old infrastructure and the ability to fund these projects solely through

property taxes
o population growth and migration from cities during the pandemic is rapidly changing

the character of rural areas; incoming residents have higher expectations for services
o incorporation should not be the only other governance option for rural areas; there

should be an intermediate step available
o Electoral Areas lack power and resources
o business licensing authority1 and subdivision approval are difficult for regional

districts
o small municipalities and regional districts are unable to fund necessary projects

costing millions, such as recycling, dikes, etc., to continue to provide the quality of life
that residents cherish in these communities.

CONSIDERATIONS FOR PURSUING LEGISLATIVE REFORM RAISED AT THIS SESSION 

• The background and questions provided by the Ministry of Municipal Affairs were very helpful in
this discussion.

• Need to identify and list specific, concrete, local community issues and distill them from a 10,000-
foot level to provide the Ministry of Municipal Affairs with evidence for the need to modernize
the Local Government Act.

• Legislative reform should be viewed as supporting the Province, not in conflict with the Province.
• The Ministry of Municipal Affairs should be involved from day one.
• The Ministry should provide funding for this initiative’s research and policy work, as they have

done for the Northwest Benefits Alliance.

1 The Province is addressing this as part of its efforts around short term rental housing. Amendments to the Local 
Government Act allow Regional Districts to regulate and licence short-term rentals and other businesses in similar 
ways to municipalities  see link 

48

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/housing-tenancy/short-term-rentals/short-term-rental-legislation#act


3 

• What is working well in the legislation should be left as is.
• If legislative reform is successful in providing new powers and tools for local governments, that

does not mean all local governments must use them.
• Islands Trust has an even smaller toolbox than municipalities and regional districts.
• Metro Vancouver has excellent models and best practices, especially in the area of climate

change; we can borrow good ideas.
• Local governments need a legislative framework that recognizes the importance of, and facilitates 

working together with, First Nations in a respectful, effective, and inclusive manner.
• When First Nations participate at the Board level, it changes the conversation and the votes. Local 

governments often are not well informed regarding Indigenous rights and title.
• The inclusive governance goals in UNDRIP legislation and provincial action plans can be reinforced

and worked on concurrently with the Legislative Reform Initiative.
• Need to consider 7 generations into future when modernizing the LGA.
• Planning and land use issues should not be included in this initiative.
• Several participants stressed the need to draft a new charter rather than revise portions of the

LGA in a continuation of the “band aid” approach.
• Area associations of UBCM should be included in the conversation.
• A retired CAO or Chair could be a primary resource person for this project, conducting research

and policy work and keeping the project on track.

DECIDING WHETHER TO PROCEED WITH THE LEGISLATIVE REFORM INITIATIVE 

 Slido poll #1: Is there an interest in proceeding with the Legislative Reform Initiative? (96% yes,
4% no)

OPTIONS FOR STEERING AND MANAGING THE LEGISLATIVE REFORM INITIATIVE 

Option 1: UBCM Executive could form a working group on legislative reform, comprised of representatives 
from municipalities, regional districts, First Nations, UBCM, and ministerial staff 

Option 2: This could be structured as a joint local government project, with local governments contributing 
funding to form a working group on legislative reform, comprised of representatives from municipalities, 
regional districts, First Nations, UBCM, and ministerial staff 

Considerations for Option 1: 

Pros: 

• UBCM has an efficient network, broad reach, consistency, research capacity, and impact with the
province.

• UBCM can be representative.
• UBCM has already been doing some work on legislative reform, and has experience.
• UBCM can allocate resources if legislative reform is identified as a priority.
• Reporting back will happen at UBCM.

49



4 

Cons: 

• Last UBCM working group report in 2010 did not meet expectations.
• Some uncertainty on the part of some participants as to how a UBCM working group functions.
• A UBCM working group may be more distant from local governments than is ideal.

Considerations for Option 2: 

Pros: 

• May insulate the project from getting sidetracked, if the Province does not assist with resources
for UBCM.

• With a group of passionate people committed to working together on the project, the Legislative
Reform Initiative may not need UBCM.

Cons: 

• Challenges with resources and capacity: initiative will require significant buy-in and continued
long-term commitment from local governments in terms of funding and staff time.

• Difficult to achieve forward momentum “off the side of the desk”.
• The complex coordination required for the project will be a challenge.

 Slido poll #2:

• Option 1: UBCM Executive forming a working group (85% in favour)
• Option 2: Joint local government project (15% in favour)

NEXT STEPS 

• A “What We Heard” document summarizing the session will be distributed to UBCM members.
• It is noted that although there was significant enthusiasm for the initiative, including from areas

outside the AVICC region, some representatives indicated they would like additional information
on the initiative.

UPDATE: December 2023 

Following the UBCM Annual Convention, Douglas Holmes, CAO of the Regional District of Nanaimo 
had the opportunity to discuss the Legislative Reform Initiative and the September 21, 2023, 
interactive panel session with Gary MacIsaac, Executive Director, UBCM.  Mr. MacIsaac is in the 
process of seeking direction on this matter from the President’s Committee.    

Attachment 1: Ministry of Municipal Affairs background and discussion questions 

50



Re: Legislative Reform Initiative 

I am writing to you on behalf of [regional district or municipality Board/Council] regarding the 
proposed reform of the Local Government Act (LGA), a topic that was considered in a panel 
discussion at the 2023 Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) Annual Convention. I understand that 
the Regional District of Nanaimo is exploring the potential formation of a working group 
through the UBCM. This letter serves to express our support and encouragement for this. 

A comprehensive review and reform of the Local Government Act has long been needed.  
Although the Ministry of Municipal Affairs has made significant incremental changes to the 
legislation, more substantial modernization of the LGA is required to provide municipalities and 
regional districts with sufficient tools and/or authority to meet their expanding responsibilities 
and challenges.  In addition, the social, political, and economic environments that local 
governments operate within continue to evolve in areas such as climate change, environmental 
stewardship, and a recognition of the importance of First Nations’ participation in regional 
governance.  These changes should be reflected in modernized legislation. 

[Regional district or municipality] supports the Regional District of Nanaimo’s request that the 
UBCM Executive form a working group to steer this important initiative.  We are eager to see 
this initiative continue momentum and support the creation of a process to organize and 
enable broad and inclusive consultation to work toward a modernized legislative scheme. 

51



The Board approved
the  2024-2025 

meeting schedule
September 10
October 1
November 5
January 7
February 4
March 4
April 1
May 6
June 3

The Board of Education approved the 2024/25 Annual Capital
Bylaw which will provide funding from the Ministry of
Education and Child Care for the following projects:

Cayoosh Elementary School - HVAC Upgrade
Kumsheen ShchEma-meet School - Electrical Upgrade
David Stoddart School - Accessible Playground

SD74 BOARD
BULLETIN MAY 2024

BOARD APPROVES CAPITAL BYLAW

Trustee Bio
Awuh qu-n TLoo (Hello),  

My name is Connor Thomas and I am a Lytton First Nation band member, residing
on the Nlaka’pamux territory in Lytton, and working for Lytton First Nations
Lands Department. I am the new Trustee for Rual Area E. I was elected in a by-
election this past March, so I’ve been a trustee for close to three months now. I
wanted to become a trustee because I felt that my school I attended had
disadvantages and inequities compared to other schools within our district. I
wanted to be a part of the decision-making process and create a fulfilling district
for all students of all backgrounds. I graduated from Kumsheen ShchEma-meet
school this past June, so I bring a youthful and unbiased perspective to the
board table. I believe youth need to be a bigger part of all decision making at
various levels of government. I hope to gain valuable experience and further my
leadership skills and create relationships along my journey as trustee. I look
forward to every bit of it! 

Awuh a. TLoo. (Goodbye)

52



May at David Stoddart School has brought with it some exciting
collaboration with elders and community leaders. Recently, grade
4-6 and 7-9 classes were fortunate to have Ms. Julie and Archie
Antoine at the school to show them how to make traditional
medicines from local plants. Students learned how balsam, cedar,
dandelion etc. may be used to treat inflammation, repel insects,
and manage pain. Moving forward DSS has exciting plans with
their friends at High Bar to further the commitment to offering
more land-based learning. As the weather continues to improve,
so too does the capacity to offer enriching opportunities to learn
about the beautiful history of this land and those who have
inhabited it for centuries.

Students at Kumsheen Shchema-
Meet School (KSS) learned how to
carve soap stone with local
knowledge keeper Charlie Brown,
Charlie Brown is a nationally
recognized artisan. Students also
learned how to loom bead from
Elder in Residence, Linda Peters and
KSS’ ASSW team. The students
worked on creating bracelets for
Mother’s Day. Middle and high
school students went on a hike into
the Stein Valley for a science-based
learning experience. The students
were on the search for budding flora
and Fauna. 53



54



55



56



57



58



59



Motion No. Motion Staff Responsible Comments Time line Status

2024 MOTIONS

R-2024-87

THAT, the Five Year Financial Plan Bylaw No. 

867, 2024 be adopted. EA completed

R-2024-88

THAT, Tax Rates Bylaw No. 868, 2024 be 

adopted EA completed

R-2024-89

THAT, the Village of Ashcroft Fees and Charges 

Bylaw No. 869, 2024 be adopted. EA completed

R-2024-90

THAT, in light of the significant damage to the 

Japanese Mural at Heritage Park, it is proposed 

that Council send a report to the Mayor and 

Council of Bifuka, expressing our concern, and 

extend an invitation to artists from Bifuka to 

consult with us on developing a plan to move 

forward. CAO completed

R-2024-92 JP Pow Wow Society - Receive for Information. EA

Direction to staff - 

forward a copy of 

the Village's grant in 

aid policy. completed

R-2024-93

THAT, the Village of Ashcroft proclaims that 

June 17th, 2024, shall be known as "Hope Air 

Day" in recognition of the invaluable 

contributions made by Hope Air to the health 

and well-being of individuals in British 

Columbia's remote, rural and underserved 

communities. EA Post Proclamation completed

R-2024-94

THAT, the Village donate a gift basket valued up 

to $75.00 for the Plein Air event consisting of a 

Village charcuterie board, wine glasses and a 

bottle of wine. CAO completed

R-2024-96

THAT, the Village of Ashcroft send a letter to IHA 

asking them to update the Ashcroft Urgent 

Primary Care website to reflect actual services 

provided and post positions that are available. CAO Letter sent completed

MAY

60



POLICY REVIEW COMMITTEE 
Meeting Notes 

Thursday April 25, 2024 at 10:00 am 

In Attendance: Mayor, Barbara Roden 
Councillor, Jessica Clement 
CAO, Daniela Dyck 

EA, Kris Hardy – Recording Secretary 

1. Discussion

a. Determine Process for Review
a. How will policies for review be determined?

• Policy Manual to be made up and handed out

• Policy list perhaps by review date done in an Excel Spreadsheet

b. How often will the committee meet?

b. Policies for Review

• Council Committee and Board Appointments – general review and update
o Update policy reflecting Working Groups & Committees
o Standing Committee to consist of Finance Committee, Special or External

Board Liaisons and Internal Liaisons
o At the Inaugural meeting following an election, a list of External and Internal

Liaisons will be distributed looking for expressions of interest and brought to
a Committee of the Whole meeting and reviewed every 2 years

o Delete Corporate Committee
o Add an Addendum for oath of confidentiality for public members on

committees

• Cellular Telephone Allowance – to be reviewed after a general election
o No changes

• Hours of Work Policy – requires update
o Remove outside crew hours
o Add “from time to time office will be closed for a period of up to one full day

for purposes of staff training; public notice of any office closer will be no later
than 1 week in advance”

o Rename Policy to Office Closure Policy

• Public Engagement Policy – past review date
o No changes required

• Indigenous Collection & Repatriation Policy – draft policy for review
o Add and “s” to “it” (policy statement)

61



o Add “Possibility” of active repatriation clause
o Timeline is good – minor modifications – remove “prompt handling”

under Procedure & Response

2. Next Steps

a) Complete list of Policies

b) Terms of Reference

• Council or Staff to identify need for a new policy

• Bring new policy to Policy Review Committee first for consideration; recommend
changes, and updates agreed upon

• Policy to Council for review

• Frequency of Meetings – Monthly the 3rd Thursday of the month at 10:00 am unless
meeting falls on a TNRD day then reschedule to the 4th Thursday.

3. Date for Next Meeting

• Next Meeting: Thursday, May 23, 2024 @ 10:00 am

4. Adjournment

Meeting adjourned 10:55 am

The foregoing is the writer’s interpretation of the discussions held. 

Kris Hardy, EA 
Recording Secretary 

62



Joint Para- Transit Committee 
Meeting Agenda 

May 15, 2024 - 11:00 am 

Ashcroft Village Office- 

ZOOM 

 In Attendance:   Elis Wren, BCT 
   Anthony Mirando, BCT 
   Michelle Wall, YCS (zoom) 
   Christine Peterson, YCS  
   Damian Couture, VoCC  
   Brian Doddridge, VoC  (zoom) 
   Daniela Dyck, VoA  
   Cnclr. Park, VoC (zoom) 

Regrets:    Director, Tricia Thorpe, TNRD Area “I” 
   Cnclr. Peters, VoCC  
   Cnclr. Davenport, VoA 

1. Welcome

Introductions – Daniela welcomed everyone to the meeting and asked attendees to introduce

themselves as there were guests at the meeting.

2. Review of Notes from March 20, 2024, Meeting

Distributed previously and attached. – No edits required

3. Additions to or Deletions from the Agenda

None

4. Unfinished Business

a. Rider Guide – Updated and attached:

Michelle confirmed that the guides are received at YCS, and she will distribute them to the

communities with the bus driver.

63



b. HUB Bus Station Utilization – Update

Daniela confirmed that there have been only six (6) pick up/drop off at the HUB bus stop. It

was agreed that the HUB bus stop requires promotion to build rider awareness.

c. Promotion Poster – Draft

Elise will assist with edits prior to forwarding poster for approval to BCT. It was noted this

poster is very “wordy” with the intent to disseminate information, future posters will have

more images and be more fun and engaging.

d. Lobby at UBCM - SILGA Resolution

Discussion included attendees at the Minster Meetings if approved. Consider 1 -2 staff and

3 council members as delegation.

Elise commented that similar resolutions from other regions have also been considered at

regional conferences such as Kootenay Boundary (KBRD) and Central Kootenay (CKRD). It

seems that other rural transit systems have the same concerns.

Resolution is attached.

5. Business

a. BC Transit Government Relations Manager – Elise Wren – update

• Elise noted she is the main point of contact for BCT and the Transit committee.

• Priorities are to monitor risk and reputational risk for the transit system.

• Elise presented a brief power point highlighting ridership trend for the system:

• Ridership has surpassed pre COVIUD levels.

• Ridership is tracking with the rest of the province.

• There appears to be a strong return to transit.

• Revenue does not seem to be matching up with ridership – Elise will

investigate further. This could be due to the special transit request issue

currently being resolved.

Bus during Pool hours between Cache Creek and Ashcroft Pool 

▪ Stop at the pool would add approximately 2 minutes per trip to the bus schedule.

▪ No additional costs will be incurred if the committee wants to move forward with the

stop.

▪ Work with Michelle to implement the additional stop.

▪ Wait for pool schedule to coordinate the bus stop.

b. YCS – Transit Manager – Michelle Wall – update

• April 24 – We did a 2-hour mandatory Customer Service Training with Drivers. This
training was provided by BC Transit with examples and videos in a power point
presentation. Will be offered again to the drivers unable to attend.

• Annual Fleet Inspection – Held on May 13 & 14 in Clearwater and May 15 in Lillooet.
Doug Walker, our Fleet Inspector came out from Victoria to inspect the buses and
review our Transit records. Report from Transit to follow.

• New Updated Riders Guide has arrived. It is already available on the BC Transit
Website. Links to the Guide are on our YCS website and the Village of Ashcroft
website. I will send out paper copies to the Village of Ashcroft with the Driver next

64



week. I just emailed the new link to Cache Creek and Clinton admin contacts for their 
websites as well. 

• Requests for Transit due to Wildfire and Emergency Situations. T-Comm from BC
Transit is the first point of contact. They will authorize the use of the bus and gather
initial details. Once approved, I will contact the driver and make arrangements as
instructed.

T-Comm is available 24-7 @ (250) 419-5900. Contact Info for YCS as follows:

Michelle Wall – Transit Manager (250) 674-2356 
Nikki Vincent – Chief Operating Officer (250) 674-7063 
Christine Peterson – Chief Executive Officer (778) 220-4234 
Kathy Green – Chief Financial Officer (250) 674-1649 

• Still looking to fill the Lillooet Health Connections transit driver position out of Lillooet.
Kevin (the current driver) has accepted a new casual position with the Lillooet School
District. His training for that position will begin early June. The post to advertise the
Health Connections position has run in the Lillooet News Paper and will run again in
the next issue. Kevin mentioned there were some inquiries on the bus, so I’m hopeful
someone will come forward soon. If you know of any Class 1, 2, or Unrestricted Class
4 drivers in Lillooet please send them my way.

c. Community Updates:

• Clinton

• Installation of bus shelter ongoing at the Public Washroom location

• Cache Creek

• Installation of bus shelter ongoing

• Ashcroft

• Annual Operating Agreement (AOA) – Daniela requested committee

recommendation to sign the agreement, noting this is the same blanket

agreement that BCT uses with all rural transit systems and the budget

impact is disseminated to each community by CFO Bhalla prior to

budget deliberations.

• The Para Transit committee recommendation to Council is to endorse

the agreement for signature.

6. Summary of Ridership/Financial

a. Report of Revenue and Ridership to April 30, 2024

7. New Business

8. Questions

Christine Petersen thanked Michelle for the comprehensive update.

Cnclr. Park requested an update for Next Ride

Going live this summer – Elise will contact the team and email the committee members. 

The App makes updates to the rider guide easier. 

Rider guide will be less static. 

65



9. Date for Next Meeting – August 21, 2024, at 11:00 am - Village of Cache Creek – Zoom

10. Termination

Meeting was adjourned at 11:40 am

The foregoing is the writer’s interpretation of the discussions held.

Daniela Dyck, CAO – Village of Ashcroft

66



Resolution 

Sponsor: Village of Ashcroft 

Title: Adjustment of Funding Formula for Small Rural Transit Services 

WHEREAS, operational costs for the provisions of rural transit services continue to escalate in this 
inflationary environment; and 

WHEREAS, BC Transit budget projections for existing small rural transit services appear to have a 
higher percentage cost increase for community partners than the Province; 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Provincial Government is urged to consider the unique 
challenges faced by small rural transit services and take into account the diverse needs of these 
communities; and that the Provincial Government through BC Transit adjust the funding formula for 
anticipated annual operational increases to a fair and equal cost-share formula between BC Transit 
and community partners. 

67



POLICY REVIEW COMMITTEE 
Meeting Notes 

Thursday May 23, 2024 at 10:00 am 

In Attendance: Mayor, Barbara Roden 
Councillor, Jessica Clement 
CAO, Daniela Dyck 

EA, Kris Hardy – Recording Secretary 

1. Discussion

a. April 25, 2024 Meeting Notes – approved

b. Draft Terms of Reference

• Change to the fourth Thursday of the month 10:00 am.

• In the event of a scheduling conflict, the meeting will be set at a mutually agreeable

date.

c. Policies for Review

• Council Committee and Board Appointments – review revised policy.
o Japanese Mural Committee

- move to schedule of committees

o Active Standing Committees
- change Finance Committee to 3 members (no alternate)

o Active Internal Boards
- Inter-Community Bylaw Enforcement – Remove from list

o External, Internal & Working Groups
- remove actual list and attach as a Schedule
- remove committee lists from the policy

• Check Procedures Bylaw to make sure Council Committee and Board Appointments
policy is compliant with bylaw.

• Hours of Work Policy #A-05-2021
o Policy Review Committee recommends repeal of Hours of Work Policy A-05-

2021

• Office Closure Policy – review draft policy. Recommendation for Council approval at
their May 27, 2024 Council Meeting

• Indigenous Collection & Repatriation Policy – edited draft policy for review
o Delete “reverence” in last paragraph of “Intent’ section

68



• Under paragraph 2, “Procedure & Response to Repatriation Requests: add
“Applications in off-hours will be forwarded to the Curator of the Museum at the
opening of the museum season.

d. Select Policies for Review from Binder:

A-01-2019 Audio and Video Recording of Council Meetings Policy – remove “media” in 3
sentences

o Under Policy: Change to: This Policy addresses all public requests from bonafide
organizations to video or audio record regular Council meetings.

o 1.1: remove “from a member of the media”
o 1.2: end sentence at Council
o 1.5: Change to: The Village reserves the right to deny permission to or from

anyone whose activities run counter to ……. etc. 
o 4.1: remove all contents of the paragraph and re-number paragraphs
o 4.2: The mayor will “indicate”, removed “direct” when the audio/visual recording

may begin
o 4.3 remove “member of the media replace with “person recording”
o Addendum “A” Application to Record – remove section “Will additional lighting,

power, etc. be required? And how will it be set up?”

Next policies to review: 
o IT Equipment Policy
o Asset Management Policy
o Social Media Policy

2. Next Steps

Finish up Binders for June 10, 2024 and distribute at Council Meeting

3. Date for Next Meeting

• Next Meeting: Thursday, June 27, 2024 @ 10:00 am

4. Adjournment

Meeting adjourned at 11:05 am

The foregoing is the writer’s interpretation of the discussions held. 

Kris Hardy, EA 
Recording Secretary 

69



Terms of Reference: Policy Review Committee 

A committee, appointed by Council, has been established to review existing policies, 

recommend amendments, repeals, or the development of new policies. The committee ensures 

that there is an ongoing cycle of policy review to keep them aligned with current bylaws, 

legislation, and best practices within the Village of Ashcroft. 

1. Committee Composition:

• The Policy Review Committee consists of two members of Council and the Chief

Administrative Officer (CAO).

• Other staff members may be invited to participate as needed, particularly when policies

under review directly impact their departments.

• The Executive Assistant is appointed as the recording secretary.

2. Purpose:

• The Policy Review Committee is tasked with reviewing new and existing policies, making

recommendations for adoption, amendment, or repeal.

3. Procedure:

New Policy Development:

• When the need for a new policy is identified by Council or Staff:

➢ Staff will develop a draft policy for review.

➢ The draft policy will be presented to the committee for review, edits, and

recommendations before being forwarded to Council for approval.

 Review of Existing Policies: 

• Policies identified by staff as outdated and requiring review will be brought to the

committee.

• The committee will review these policies, suggesting amendments or

recommending repeal.

• Recommendations will be forwarded to Council for approval.

 Regular Review Schedule: 

• Staff will select three random policies for review at each Policy Review

Committee Meeting.

4. Meeting Schedule:

• The Policy Review Committee will convene monthly.

• Meetings will be held on the fourth Thursday of each month at 10:00 am.

• In the event of a scheduling conflict, the committee will meet on another mutually agreed

upon day at 10:00 am.

70




